OPEN GROMOV-WITTEN INVARIANTS AND MIRROR MAPS FOR SEMI-FANO TORIC MANIFOLDS

KWOKWAI CHAN, SIU-CHEONG LAU, NAICHUNG CONAN LEUNG, AND HSIAN-HUA TSENG

Dedicated to Prof. Kyoji Saito on the occasion of his 75th birthday.

ABSTRACT. We prove that for a compact toric manifold whose anti-canonical divisor is numerically effective, the Lagrangian Floer superpotential defined by Fukaya-Oh-Ohto-Ono [15] is equal to the superpotential written down by using the toric mirror map under a convergence assumption. This gives a method to compute open Gromov-Witten invariants using mirror symmetry.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Superpotentials	2
1.2. Computation of open GW invariants	4
1.3. Outline	4
1.4. Some history of this paper	5
Acknowledgment	5
2. Toric manifolds and their Landau-Ginzburg mirrors	5
2.1. A quick review on toric manifolds	5
2.2. The Landau-Ginzburg mirrors of toric manifolds	6
2.3. Toric mirror transform and mirror theorems	9
2.4. Lagrangian Floer theory of Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono	11
3. Universal unfolding of superpotentials	13
4. Equivalence between mirror map and Lagrangian Floer approach	15
4.1. The main theorem	15
4.2. Application to computing open GW invariants	21
4.3. Examples	22
5. The relation with Seidel representations	29
References	31

Date: April 3, 2020.

1. INTRODUCTION

The PDE approach to mirror symmetry of toric manifolds is a very well-developed subject, see for example [20] and [27]. More recently, the Lagrangian Floer theory developed by Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono [13, 14, 15, 16] gives a geometric approach to study mirror symmetry for toric manifolds. The purpose of this paper is to relate these two seemingly different approaches in the case of compact toric manifolds. By doing so, we obtain an open analogue of the closed-string mirror symmetry discovered by Candelas-de la Ossa-Green-Parkes [4]. Namely, under mirror symmetry, the computation of open Gromov-Witten (GW) invariants is transformed into a PDE problem of solving Picard-Fuchs equations.

1.1. Superpotentials. Let X be a compact toric manifold of complex dimension n and q a Kähler class of X. The mirror of (X, q) is a Landau-Ginzburg model W_q , which is a holomorphic function on $(\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$. Closed-string mirror symmetry states that the deformation of W_q encodes closed GW invariants of X. More precisely, there is an isomorphism

$$QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q)$$

as Frobenius algebras, where $QH^*(X,q)$ denotes the small quantum cohomology ring of (X,q) and

$$\operatorname{Jac}(W_q) := \frac{\mathbb{C}[z_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, z_n^{\pm 1}]}{\left\langle z_1 \frac{\partial W_q}{\partial z_1}, \dots, z_n \frac{\partial W_q}{\partial z_n} \right\rangle}$$

is the Jacobian ring of W_q .

Based on physical arguments, Hori-Vafa [23] gave a recipe to write down a Laurent polynomial W_q° from the combinatorial data of X. Independently, W_q° was also constructed by Givental [19]. It turns out that W_q° gives the 'leading order term' of W_q , and our results show that the remaining terms are *instanton corrections* coming from holomorphic disks.

The PDE approach to writing down these instanton corrections is achieved by solving a Picard-Fuchs system for the *mirror map* $\check{q}(q)$.¹ It was studied by Givental [20] and Lian-Liu-Yau [27] for a toric manifold X whose anti-canonical line bundle $-K_X$ is numerically effective. We call such X a *semi-Fano* toric manifold. In this setting the instanton-corrected superpotential is then given by

$$W_q^{\mathrm{PF}} := W_{\check{q}(q)}^{\circ}.$$

The function $W_q^{\rm PF}$ fits into the mirror symmetry picture mentioned above, namely we have

$$QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$$

as Frobenius algebras.

On the other hand, the instanton corrections are realised by Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono [15] using open GW invariants as follows. Let $\mathbf{T} \subset X$ be a Lagrangian toric fiber and $\pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$ the set of homotopy classes of maps $(\Delta, \partial \Delta) \to (X, \mathbf{T})$, where Δ denotes the closed unit disk. For $\beta \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$, the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)$ of stable disks representing β and its virtual fundamental class $[\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)] \in H_n(\mathbf{T})$ are defined. The one-pointed open GW invariant associated to β is defined as

$$n_{\beta} := \int_{[\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)]} \operatorname{ev}^*[\operatorname{pt}]$$

¹In the literatures the mirror map refers to $q(\check{q})$, while $\check{q}(q)$ is its inverse.

where $[pt] \in H^n(\mathbf{T})$ is the point class and $ev : \mathcal{M}_1(\beta) \to \mathbf{T}$ is the evaluation map. Then the instanton-corrected superpotential is defined as

$$W_q^{\rm LF} := \sum_{\beta \in \pi_2(X,\mathbf{T})} n_\beta Z_\beta$$

where Z_{β} is an explicitly written monomial for each β (see Section 2.2 for more details). Notice that the above formal sum involves infinitely many terms in general, and is well-defined over the Novikov ring (see Section 2.4). Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono [18] proved that

$$QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{LF}})$$

as Frobenius algebras.

While W^{PF} and W^{LF} originate from totally different approaches, they lead to the same mirror symmetry statements. In view of this, it is natural to expect that

(1.1)
$$W^{\rm PF} = W^{\rm LF}.$$

When X is a Fano toric manifold, i.e. $-K_X$ is ample, then the toric mirror map $\check{q}(q)$ for X is trivial, as observed in [20]. Hence $W^{\rm PF} = W^{\circ}$. Also, for a Fano toric manifold X, the open GW invariants n_{β} considered above can be completely calculated using the work [9]. It follows that $W^{\rm LF} = W^{\circ}$. Therefore the formula (1.1) holds true for Fano toric manifolds.

When X is semi-Fano but not Fano, i.e. $-K_X$ is numerically effective but not ample, the toric mirror map $\check{q}(q)$ for X is non-trivial, and the open GW invariants n_β cannot be easily calculated due to nontrivial obstructions to the moduli problem. In this situation, the formula (1.1) is a highly non-trivial statement.

In this paper we prove (1.1) under the technical assumption that the coefficients of W^{LF} converge analytically (instead of just being formal sums):

Theorem 1.1 (Restatement of Theorem 4.2). Let X be a toric manifold with $-K_X$ numerically effective, and let W^{PF} and W^{LF} be the superpotentials in the mirror as explained above. Then

$$W^{PF} = W^{LI}$$

provided that each coefficient of W^{LF} converges in an open neighborhood around q = 0.

Our approach to Theorem 1.1 is analytic in nature, involving the theory of unfoldings of analytic functions. The proof may be be summarized as follows. By combining the two isomorphisms $QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$ and $QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{LF}})$, we get an isomorphism $\operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{LF}}) \cong$ $\operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$. This isomorphism together with semi-simplicity of the Jacobian rings imply that W_q^{LF} and W_q^{PF} have the same critical values. Putting these functions into a universal unfolding gives us constant families of critical points linking those of W_q^{PF} and W_q^{LF} . Since they have the same critical values, they indeed correspond to the same based point in the universal family. It follows that the two functions coincide. Details are given in Section 4.

In this paper we show that the technical convergence assumption in Theorem 1.1 holds at least in the following cases: (1) when dim X = 2 (see Section 4.3.1) and (2) when X is of the form $\mathbb{P}(K_S \oplus \mathcal{O}_S)$ for some toric Fano manifold S (see Section 4.3.2).

Remark 1.2. The isomorphism $QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{PF})$ in closed string mirror symmetry for toric manifolds is in fact a consequence of a more involved correspondence. Following Givental [19], the quantum cohomology ring $QH^*(X,q)$ can be equipped with a D-module structure which is often called the quantum D-module. By K. Saito's theory of primitive forms [29], the superpotential W^{PF} also defines a D-module. Mirror symmetry for the toric manifold X may be understood as an isomorphism between the quantum D-module and the D-module defined by W^{PF} .

Nevertheless, our proof of (1.1) does not require the mirror symmetry results at the level of *D*-module. The isomorphisms between quantum cohomology rings and Jacobian rings as Frobenius algebras are sufficient.

1.2. Computation of open GW invariants. The function W^{LF} is a generating function of open GW invariants n_{β} (and thus can be regarded as an object in the 'A-side'), whereas W^{PF} arises from solving Picard-Fuchs equations (and so is an object in the 'B-side'). Using this equality, the task of computing the open GW invariants is transformed to solving Picard-Fuchs equations which has been known to experts. Thus our work gives a mirror symmetry method to compute open GW invariants.

More precisely, in Section 4.2 we derive from Theorem 4.2 an explicit formula for the generating functions of open GW invariants n_{β} . Our formula involves explicit hypergeometric series and mirror maps, and can be used to effectively evaluated open GW invariants n_{β} term-by-term. As an application of our formula, we calculate some open GW invariants in a non-trivial example in Section 4.3.3.

Our formula for open GW invariants are made even more explicit using a relationship with Seidel representations. In Section 5, we derive from (1.1) the following formula for the generating function $\delta_i(q)$ of open GW invariants: under the toric mirror map $\check{q} = \check{q}(q)$, we have

(1.2)
$$1 + \delta_i(q) = \exp\left(g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})\right).$$

Here $g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})$ is the following power series²

$$g_0^{(i)}(\check{q}) := \sum_{\substack{(-K_X, d)=0\\(D_i, d)<0\\(D_j, d)\geq 0 \ \forall j\neq i}} \frac{(-1)^{(D_i, d)}(-(D_i, d)-1)!}{\prod_{j\neq i} (D_j, d)!} \check{q}^d.$$

Our formula (1.2) completely and effectively calculates open GW invariants of *all* semi-Fano torc manifolds. This is a significant advance, since prior to our work open GW invariants of toric manifolds are only calculated in a few examples.

Our main results can also be understood as providing a geometric interpretation of the toric mirror maps $\check{q}(q)$, whose definition is combinatorial in nature and somewhat mysterious.

1.3. Outline. This paper is organized as follows. Sections 2 and 3 serve as short reviews on toric geometry and deformation theory of analytic functions respectively. Section 4 contains the proof of the main theorem and its applications to computation of open GW invariants. Inspired by the recent work of González and Iritani [21] on the relation between mirror maps and Seidel representations [30], [28], we explain in Section 5 how (1.1) implies that open GW invariants can also be expressed by using Seidel representations.

Here are some remarks on notations. $H_2(X)$ means $H_2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ unless otherwise specified. $QH^*(X)$ always denotes the small quantum cohomology of X. The work of Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono will be abbreviated as 'FOOO' in this paper.

²It is easy to see that this power series is convergent.

OPEN GW AND MIRROR MAP

1.4. Some history of this paper. The first draft of this paper was finished in October 2011. The technical assumption in Theorem 1.1, namely, the assumption that coefficients of W^{LF} converge in an open neighborhood around q = 0, is required in order to apply the theory of unfoldings of analytic functions. It may be possible to avoid this assumption by carrying out the arguments for functions taking values in suitable formal power series rings. Around a year later (in November 2012), we found a new geometric approach making use of Seidel representations that proves (1.1) unconditionally; this geometric proof, together with several applications (one of which being, in turn, the convergence of coefficients of W^{LF}), appeared in [8]. Nevertheless we believe that it is still valuable to retain the argument in the current paper.

Acknowledgment

We are grateful to Hiroshi Iritani for useful discussions. Part of this work was done when K. C. was working as a project researcher at IPMU at the University of Tokyo and visiting IHÉS. He would like to thank both institutes for hospitality and providing an excellent research environment. S.-C. L. expresses his deep gratitude to Kyoji Saito for interesting discussions at IPMU on Frobenius structures and primitive forms, and also to Kaoru Ono for his hospitality at Hokkaido University and interesting discussions on Lagrangian Floer theory.

The work of K. C. was supported in part by a grant from the Hong Kong Research Grants Council (Project No. CUHK404412). The work of S.-C. L. was supported by IPMU and Harvard University. The work of N. C. L. was supported by a grant from the Hong Kong Research Grants Council (Project No. CUHK401809). The work of H.-H. T. was supported in part by NSF grant DMS-1047777.

2. TORIC MANIFOLDS AND THEIR LANDAU-GINZBURG MIRRORS

In this section we give a quick review on some facts on toric manifolds. Then we recall the mirror maps for toric manifolds and Lagrangian Floer theory which we will use in this paper. The toric mirror map, which arises from attempts to compute genus 0 GW invariants of toric manifolds, has been studied by Givental [20] and Lian-Liu-Yau [27], while the Lagrangian Floer theory was constructed by Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono [15].

2.1. A quick review on toric manifolds. Let $N \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$ be a lattice of rank n. For simplicity we shall always use the notation $N_R := N \otimes R$ for a \mathbb{Z} -module R. Let $X = X_{\Sigma}$ be a compact complex toric *n*-fold defined by a fan Σ supported in $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. X_{Σ} admits an action by the complex torus $N_{\mathbb{C}}/N \cong (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$, whence its name 'toric manifold'. There is an open orbit in X on which $N_{\mathbb{C}}/N$ acts freely, and by abuse of notation we shall also denote this orbit by $N_{\mathbb{C}}/N \subset X$. Roughly speaking, X is obtained from the open part $N_{\mathbb{C}}/N$ by compactifying along every ray of Σ .

We denote by $M = \text{Hom}(N,\mathbb{Z})$ the dual lattice of N. Every lattice point $\nu \in M$ gives a nowherezero holomorphic function $\exp(\nu, \cdot) : N_{\mathbb{C}}/N \to \mathbb{C}$ which extends to a meromorphic function on X_{Σ} . Its zero and pole set gives a toric divisor³ which is linearly equivalent to 0.

If we further equip X with a toric Kähler form $\omega \in \Omega^2(X, \mathbb{R})$, then the action of $N_{\mathbb{R}}/N$ on X_{Σ} induces a moment map

$$\mu_0: X \to M_{\mathbb{R}},$$

whose image is a polytope $P \subset M_{\mathbb{R}}$ defined by a system of inequalities

$$(2.1) (v_i, \cdot) \ge c_i, \ i = 1, \dots, m$$

³A divisor D in X is toric if D is invariant under the action of $N_{\mathbb{C}}/N$ on X.

where v_i are all primitive generators of rays of Σ , and $c_i \in \mathbb{R}$ are some suitable constants. Since translation of the polytope P does not affect the Kähler class, without loss of generality we may assume $c_1 = \ldots = c_n = 0$.

We always denote a regular moment map fiber of μ_0 over $r \in M_{\mathbb{R}}$ by \mathbf{T}_r , and sometimes the subscript r is omitted if the base point is not important for the discussion. The primitive generators v_i 's correspond to disk classes $\beta_i(r) \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T}_r)$, which are referred as the basic disk classes. The symplectic areas of these disk classes are given by (see [9])

$$\int_{\beta_i(r)} \omega = 2\pi \big((v_i, r) - c_i \big)$$

To complexify the Kähler moduli so that it is comparable to the mirror complex moduli, one considers complexified Kähler forms $\omega_{\mathbb{C}} = \omega + \mathbf{i} B \in \Omega^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ where B is any closed real two form. One obtains the complexified Kähler cone $\mathcal{M}_A(X) \subset H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ by collecting the classes of all such complexified Kähler forms. Let $\{\mathbf{p}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_l\}$ be a nef basis of $H^2(X)$, and let $\{\Psi_1, \ldots, \Psi_l\} \subset H_2(X)$ be its dual basis. Then Ψ_k induce coordinate functions q_k on $H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ by assigning $\eta \in H^2(X, \mathbb{C})$ with the value $\mathbf{e}^{-(q_k, \eta)}$. In particular, we may restrict them on $\mathcal{M}_A(X)$ to get coordinates for the Kähler moduli. Notice that (q_1, \ldots, q_l) tends to 0 when one takes the large radius limit.

Here comes a notational convention: For a class $d \in H_2(X)$, define

$$q^d = \prod_{j=1}^l q_j^{(\mathbf{p}_j, d)}.$$

In this expression we may regard $q = (q_1, \ldots, q_l)$ simply as formal parameters, not necessarily as coordinates of the Kähler moduli of X. If d is a curve class, since \mathbf{p}_j is nef for all $j = 1, \ldots, l$, the exponents of q_j in the above product are all nonnegative. This fact is important when one considers the J-function, which is a formal power series in q and it lives in the Novikov ring due to this fact.

The polytope P admits a natural stratification by its faces. Each codimension-one face $T_i \,\subset P$ which is normal to $v_i \in N$ gives an irreducible toric divisor $D_i = \mu_0^{-1}(T_i) \subset X_{\Sigma}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, m$, and all other toric divisors are generated by $\{D_i\}_{i=1}^m$. For example, the anti-canonical divisor $-K_X$ of X is given by $\sum_{i=1}^m D_i$.

2.2. The Landau-Ginzburg mirrors of toric manifolds. The mirror of a toric manifold $X = X_{\Sigma}$ is a Landau-Ginzburg model (\check{X}, W) , where $\check{X} = M_{\mathbb{C}}/M \cong (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$ and $W : \check{X} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a holomorphic function called the superpotential. This subsection reviews how to use the combinatorial data of Σ to write down the superpotential.⁴ It is commonly called the Hori-Vafa superpotential [23] in the literatures, but in fact it has appeared earlier in Givental's paper [20] (the notation for the superpotential in Givental's paper being $F_0(u)$).

Recall that for i = 1, ..., m and a moment map fiber $\mathbf{T}_r = \mu_0^{-1}(r)$ at $r \in P^\circ$, $\beta_i \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T}_r)$ denotes the basic disk class bounded by \mathbf{T}_r corresponding to the primitive generator v_i of a ray of Σ . We may also write it as $\beta_i(r)$ to make the dependency on r more explicit. One has the following exact sequence

(2.2)
$$0 \to \pi_2(X) \to \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T}_r) \to \pi_1(\mathbf{T}_r) \to 0$$

⁴The superpotential appearing in this section has not received instanton corrections yet. In the next two subsections we review two approaches to correct the superpotential, which are provided by mirror maps and Lagrangian Floer theory respectively.

where the first map $\pi_2(X) \to \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T}_r)$ is a natural inclusion and the second map $\partial : \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T}_r) \to \pi_1(\mathbf{T}_r)$ is given by taking boundary. Moreover $\pi_1(\mathbf{T}_r)$ is canonically identified with the lattice N, and $\pi_2(X) = H_2(X)$ since $\pi_1(X) = 0$.

Definition 2.1 (The Hori-Vafa superpotential). Let X be a toric manifold equipped with a toric Kähler form ω , and let P be the corresponding moment map polytope. Denote the primitive generators of rays in its fan by v_i , i = 1, ..., m, and the corresponding basic disk classes bounded by a regular moment map fiber over $r \in P^{\circ}$ by $\beta_i(r)$ (here P° denotes the interior of P). The Hori-Vafa superpotential mirror to X is defined to be

$$W^{\circ}: P^{\circ} \times M_{\mathbb{R}}/M \to \mathbb{C},$$
$$W^{\circ}(r, \theta) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} Z_i(r, \theta)$$

in which the summands are

(2.3)
$$Z_i(r,\theta) = \exp\left(-\int_{\beta_i(r)} \omega + 2\pi \mathbf{i} (v_i, \theta)\right).$$

A small circle is placed as the superscript to indicate that this superpotential has not received instanton corrections yet.

To make the above expression more explicit, let us fix a top dimensional cone of Σ generated by, say, $v_1, \ldots, v_n \in N$ (we can always assume that the cone is generated by v_1, \ldots, v_n by relabeling the primitive generators if necessary). Then each v_i defines a coordinate function

$$z_i := \exp\left(2\pi \mathbf{i} \ (v_i, \, \cdot)\right) : M_{\mathbb{C}}/M \to \mathbb{C},$$

for i = 1, ..., n. One may write down the Hori-Vafa superpotential in terms of these coordinates z_i as follows:

Proposition 2.2. Assume the same setting as in Definition 2.1. The Hori-Vafa superpotential can be written as

(2.4)
$$W_q^{\circ} = z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{i=n+1}^m q^{\alpha_i} z^{\nu_i}$$

where $z^{v_i} := \prod_{k=1}^n z_k^{v_i^k}$ and

(2.5)
$$\alpha_i := \beta_i - \sum_{k=1}^n v_i^k \beta_k$$

are classes in $H_2(X)$ for $i = n + 1, \ldots, m$.

Proof. Since $\int_{\beta_i(r)} \omega = 2\pi((v_i, r) - c_i)$, we have

$$Z_i(r,\theta) = \mathbf{e}^{-2\pi \mathbf{i} c_i} \exp\left(2\pi \mathbf{i} \left(v_i, \theta + \mathbf{i} r\right)\right).$$

In Section 2.1 we have made the choice $c_i = 0$ for i = 1, ..., n. Thus $Z_i = z_i$ for i = 1, ..., n.

For $i = n + 1, \ldots, m$, we may write

$$v_i = \sum_{k=1}^n v_i^k v_k$$

for $v_i^k \in \mathbb{Z}$, because $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ generates N. Then

$$\partial \left(\beta_i - \sum_{k=1}^n v_i^k \beta_k \right) = 0.$$

From the exact sequence (2.2), $\alpha_i := \beta_i - \sum_{k=1}^n v_i^k \beta_k$ belong to $H_2(X)$ for all $i = n + 1, \dots, m$.

Recall that we have introduced a basis $\{\mathbf{p}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_l\}$ of $H_2(X)$ in the previous subsection, and $q^{\alpha_i} = q_1^{(\mathbf{p}_1, \alpha_i)} \ldots q_l^{(\mathbf{p}_l, \alpha_i)}$. Then for $i = n + 1, \ldots, m$,

$$Z_{i}(r,\theta) = \exp\left(-\int_{\beta_{i}(r)} \omega + 2\pi \mathbf{i} (v_{i}, \theta)\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(-\int_{\alpha_{i}} \omega - \sum_{k=1}^{n} v_{i}^{k} \left(\int_{\beta_{k}} \omega + 2\pi \mathbf{i} (v_{k}, \theta)\right)\right)$$
$$= q^{\alpha_{i}}(\omega) z^{v_{i}}$$

Thus the Hori-Vafa superpotential can be written as

$$W^{\circ} = z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{i=n+1}^{m} q^{\alpha_i} z^{\nu_i}.$$

Note that the expression of W_q° appearing in Proposition 2.2 only exploits the fan configuration of the toric manifold X and does not involve its Kähler structure. The Hori-Vafa superptential corresponding to $(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$, where $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$ is a complexified Kähler class of X, is $W_{q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})}^{\circ}$ where $q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}}) = \left(\mathbf{e}^{-\int_{\Psi_1} \omega_{\mathbb{C}}}, \ldots, \mathbf{e}^{-\int_{\Psi_l} \omega_{\mathbb{C}}}\right)$ is the coordinate of $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$ in the complexified Kähler moduli. We omit the subscript q in the notation W_q° whenever the dependency on q is not relevant for the discussion.

From this expression, we see that W° (whose domain is originally $P^{\circ} \times M_{\mathbb{R}}/M$) can be analytically continued to $M_{\mathbb{C}}/M \cong (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$. We will mainly be interested in the deformation of W° , which is captured by its Jacobian ring $\operatorname{Jac}(W^{\circ})$ whose definition is as follows:

Definition 2.3 (The Jacobian ring). Let $f : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a holomorphic function on a domain $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$. Then the Jacobian ring of f is defined as

$$\operatorname{Jac}(f) := \frac{\mathcal{O}_D}{\mathcal{O}_D\langle \partial_1 f, \dots, \partial_n f \rangle}$$

where \mathcal{O}_D denotes the ring of holomorphic functions on \mathcal{D} .

The Jacobian ring of W° is deeply related with the quantum cohomology ring $QH^{*}(X)$ of X. In [3], Batyrev defined the following ring B_X for a toric manifold X and it was later shown by Givental [20] that the small quantum cohomology ring $QH^{*}(X)$ is isomorphic to B_X as algebras when X is Fano:

Definition 2.4 (The Batyrev ring [3]). Let X be a toric manifold whose toric divisors are denoted by D_1, \ldots, D_m , and let $\{\mathbf{p}_j\}_{j=1}^l$ be a nef basis of $H^2(X)$, so that $D_i = \sum_{j=1}^l a_{ij} \mathbf{p}_j$ for $a_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}$. The Batyrev ring for $q = (q_1, \ldots, q_l) \in \mathbb{C}^l$ is defined as

$$B_X(q) := \mathbb{C}[u_1, \dots, u_l]/\mathcal{I}_{B_X}$$

where \mathcal{I}_{B_X} is the ideal generated by the elements

$$\prod_{i:(D_j,d)>0} w_j^{(D_j,d)} - q^d \prod_{j:(D_j,d)<0} w_j^{-(D_j,d)}$$

for every $d \in H_2(X)$. In the above expression

for i = 1, ..., m.

Theorem 2.5 (Batyrev's mirror theorem [3, 20]). Let X be a toric Fano manifold equipped with a complexified Kähler class $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$. Denote the small quantum cohomology ring of X by $QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$. Then

$$QH^*(X,\omega_{\mathbb{C}}) \cong B_X(q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}}))$$

by sending the generators $\mathbf{p}_i \in QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$ to $u_i \in B_X(q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}}))$. Here to define the Batyrev ring we choose a nef basis $\{\mathbf{p}_j\}_{j=1}^l$ of $H^2(X)$ whose dual basis is denoted by $\{\Psi_i\}_{i=1}^l \subset H_2(X)$, and $q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}}) = (\mathbf{e}^{-\int_{\Psi_1} \omega_{\mathbb{C}}}, \dots, \mathbf{e}^{-\int_{\Psi_l} \omega_{\mathbb{C}}})$ is the coordinate of $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$ in the complexified Kähler moduli.

On the other hand, the Batyrev ring B_X is known to be isomorphic to the Jacobian ring. A good reference is part (i) of Proposition 3.10 of [25] by Iritani.

Proposition 2.6 ([3, 25]). Let X be a compact toric manifold and W_q° its Hori-Vafa superpotential. Then

$$B_X(q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^\circ)$$

as algebras, where the isomorphism is given by taking u_j to $q_j \frac{\partial W_q^\circ}{\partial q_j}$ for $j = 1, \ldots, l$.

Combining Theorem 2.5 and Proposition 2.6, one has an isomorphism of algebras between $QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$ and $\operatorname{Jac}(W^{\circ}_{q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})})$ when X is a Fano manifold. However, this statement no longer holds in general when X is non-Fano. One needs to include 'instanton corrections' to make similar statements for non-Fano toric manifolds. In the next two sections we will review two different approaches in the semi-Fano setting.

2.3. Toric mirror transform and mirror theorems. Mirror symmetry is powerful because it transforms quantum invariants to some classically known quantities in the mirror side. In this toric setting, it transforms the small quantum cohomology ring $QH^*(X)$ to the Jacobian ring of the superpotential in the mirror side. However, to make such a statement the above expression (2.4) for W° has to be modified by instanton corrections. In this section, we review the approach by using the toric mirror transforms studied by [20] and [27]. In the next section we will review another approach which uses open GW invariants [15]. The ultimate goal of this paper is to prove that these two approaches are equivalent, and this statement will be made clear in Section 4.

From now on we shall always assume that X is a semi-Fano toric manifold, which means the following:

Definition 2.7. A compact complex manifold is said to be semi-Fano if its anti-canonical divisor $-K_X$ is numerically effective, that is, $-K_X \cdot C \ge 0$ for every complex curve C in X.

Under this condition the toric mirror transform can be written down explicitly. In Givental's formulation [20], this is done by matching the *I*-function with the *J*-function, which are $H^*(X, \mathbb{C})$ -valued functions.

Recall that the I-function is written as

(2.7)
$$I(\hat{q}, z) = z \, \mathbf{e}^{(\mathbf{p}_1 \log \hat{q}_1 + \dots + \mathbf{p}_l \log \hat{q}_l)/z} \sum_{d \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X)} \hat{q}^d \prod_i \frac{\prod_{m=-\infty}^0 (D_i + mz)}{\prod_{m=-\infty}^{D_i \cdot d} (D_i + mz)}$$

where $\{\mathbf{p}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_l\}$ is a nef basis of $H^2(X)$ chosen in Section 2.1, $\hat{q} = (\hat{q}_1, \ldots, \hat{q}_l)$ are formal variables⁵, $d \in H_2(X)$ is written as $d = \sum_{k=1}^l d_k q_k$ and $\hat{q}^d := \prod_{k=1}^l \hat{q}_k^{d_k}$. Moreover z is a formal variable (caution: it has nothing to do with the coordinates z_i on $M_{\mathbb{C}}/M \cong (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$ given in the last section). I results from oscillatory integrals of W° and thus captures information about the Landau-Ginzburg mirror.

The J-function is a generating function recording the descendent invariants of X as follows:

(2.8)
$$J(q,z) = z \mathbf{e}^{(\mathbf{p}_1 \log q_1 + \dots + \mathbf{p}_l \log q_l)/z} \left(1 + \sum_{\alpha} \sum_{d \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}} q^d \left\langle 1, \frac{\phi_{\alpha}}{z - \psi} \right\rangle_{0,2,d} \phi^{\alpha} \right),$$

where $\{\phi_{\alpha}\}$ is a homogeneous additive basis of $H^*(X)$ and $\{\phi^{\alpha}\} \subset H^*(X)$ is its dual basis with respect to the Poincaré pairing. We always use $\langle \ldots \rangle_{g,k,d}$ to denote the genus g, degree d GW invariant of X with k insertions. $\left\langle 1, \frac{\phi_{\alpha}}{z-\psi} \right\rangle_{0,2,d}$ is expanded into a power series in z^{-1} whose coefficients are descendent invariants of X, which involve the ψ -classes in GW theory.

While *I*-function is explicitly written down in terms of combinatorial data of the fan Σ , *J*-function involves descendent invariants of X which are difficult to compute in general. It was shown⁶ by [20, 27] that via the 'mirror transform' $\hat{q} = \hat{q}(q)$, J can be expressed in terms of I:

Theorem 2.8 (Toric mirror theorem [20, 27]). Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold. There exist formal power series $\hat{q}_i(q)$ for i = 1, ..., l such that

$$I(\hat{q}(q)) = J(q)$$

where $\hat{q}(q) = (\hat{q}_1(q), \ldots, \hat{q}_l(q))$. Moreover the power series $\hat{q}_i(q), i = 1, \ldots, l$ are explicitly determined by the expansion of I into a z^{-1} -series.

A priori $\hat{q}_i(q)$, i = 1, ..., l, are formal power series in q. In Proposition 5.13 of [24], Iritani proved that indeed the mirror transform is convergent:

Theorem 2.9 (Convergence of toric mirror map [24]). Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold and let \hat{q} be the toric mirror transform given in Theorem 2.8. For every i = 1, ..., l, $\hat{q}_i(q)$ is convergent in a neighborhood of q = 0.

The *I*-function can be expressed as oscillatory integrals of the Hori-Vafa superpotential ([20, p.11]), and hence is complex analytic. Combining Theorems 2.8 and 2.9, one deduces that the *J*-function is also complex analytic in a neighborhood of q = 0.

The instanton-corrected superpotential can be expressed in terms of this mirror transform:

Definition 2.10. Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold, and let $\hat{q}(q)$ be the toric mirror transform. We define

$$W_q^{PF} := W_{\hat{q}(q)}^{\circ} = z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{i=n+1}^m \hat{q}^{\alpha_i}(q) z^{\nu_i}.$$

⁵Conceptually \hat{q}_k are coordinates of the formal neighborhood around the large complex structure limit of the mirror complex moduli. That is, the mirror complex moduli is given by Spec $\mathbb{C}[\hat{q}_1^{\pm 1}, \ldots, \hat{q}_l^{\pm 1}]$, the large complex structure limit is at $\hat{q}_1 = \ldots = \hat{q}_l = 0$, and I is a $H^*(X, \mathbb{C})$ -valued function defined on Spec $\mathbb{C}[[\hat{q}_1, \ldots, \hat{q}_l]]$, a formal neighborhood of 0.

⁶The mirror theorem works much more generally for semi-Fano complete intersections in toric varieties; here we only need its restriction to semi-Fano toric cases.

The superscript 'PF' indicates that the superpotential is defined in terms of the mirror map which is calculated by solving Picard-Fuchs equations.

While Batyrev's original isomorphism (Theorem 2.5) does not hold true for general semi-Fano toric manifolds, it can be corrected by using the toric mirror transform:

Theorem 2.11 ([20, 10, 21]). Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold equipped with a complexified Kähler class $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$. We take a nef basis $\{\mathbf{p}_i\}_{i=1}^l \subset H^2(X)$ and let $\hat{q}(q)$ be the toric mirror transform given in Theorem 2.8. Then

$$QH^*(X,\omega_{\mathbb{C}}) \cong B_X(\hat{q}(q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})))$$

where the isomorphism is given by sending the generators

$$\tilde{\mathbf{p}}_i := \sum_{k=1}^l \left. \frac{\partial \log q_k}{\partial \log \hat{q}_i} \right|_{\hat{q}(q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}}))} \mathbf{p}_k \in QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$$

to $u_i \in B_X(\hat{q}(q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})))$. In other words $\mathbf{p}_k \in QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$ are sent to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{l} \left. \frac{\partial \log \hat{q}_i}{\partial \log q_k} \right|_{q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})} u_i \in B_X(\hat{q}(q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}}))).$$

Now combining the above theorem with Proposition 2.6, one has

Theorem 2.12 (Second form of toric mirror theorem). Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold equipped with a complexified Kähler class $\omega_{\mathbb{C}}$, and let W^{PF} be the instanton-corrected superpotential in Definition 2.10. Then

$$QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}}) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W^{PF}_{q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})}).$$

Moreover, the isomorphism is given by sending the generators $\mathbf{p}_k \in QH^*(X, \omega_{\mathbb{C}})$ to $q \frac{\partial}{\partial q} W_q^{PF}$ evaluated at $q = q(\omega_{\mathbb{C}})$.

2.4. Lagrangian Floer theory of Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono. Another way to write down the instanton-corrected mirror superpotential is by counting stable holomorphic disks, which is a part of the Lagrangian Floer theory for toric manifolds developed by Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono [15]. While FOOO's theory works for general compact toric manifolds, we will restrict to the case when X is a semi-Fano toric manifold for simplicity.

Let \mathbf{T} be a regular toric moment fiber of the semi-Fano toric manifold X. For a disk class $\beta \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$, we have the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)$ of stable disks with one boundary marked point representing β . $\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)$ is oriented and compact. Moreover, since non-constant stable disks bounded by \mathbf{T} have Maslov indices at least two, $\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)$ has no codimension-one boundary (for a nice and detailed discussion of these, the reader is referred to [1, Section 3]). The main problem is transversality: the dimension of $\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)$ can be higher than its expected (real) dimension, which is $n + \mu(\beta) - 2$, where $\mu(\beta)$ denotes the Maslov index of β . To tackle with this, FOOO considered the obstruction theory and constructed a virtual fundamental class $[\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)] \in H_n(\mathbf{T})$, so that the integration $\int_{[\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)]} ev^*[pt]$ makes sense.

Definition 2.13 (One-pointed open GW invariant [15]). Let X be a compact semi-Fano toric manifold, and **T** a regular toric moment fiber of X. The one-pointed open GW invariant associated to a disk class $\beta \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$ is defined as

$$n_{\beta} := \int_{[\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)]} ev^*[\mathrm{pt}],$$

where $[pt] \in H^n(\mathbf{T})$ is the point class and $ev : \mathcal{M}_1(\beta) \to \mathbf{T}$ is the evaluation map.

Note that dim $[\mathcal{M}_1(\beta)] = n$ only when $\mu(\beta) = 2$, hence $n_\beta = 0$ whenever $\mu(\beta) \neq 2$. Analogous to Definition 2.1, we have the following definition of instanton-corrected superpotential from Lagrangian Floer theory:

Definition 2.14. Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold with a toric Kähler form ω , and P the corresponding moment map polytope. The instanton-corrected superpotential mirror to X from the approach of FOOO's Lagrangian Floer theory is defined to be

$$W^{LF}: P^{\circ} \times M_{\mathbb{R}}/M \to \mathbb{C},$$
$$W^{LF}(r, \theta) = \sum_{\beta \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})} n_{\beta} Z_{\beta}(r, \theta)$$

in which the summands are

$$Z_{\beta}(r,\theta) = \exp\left(-\int_{\beta(r)} \omega + 2\pi \mathbf{i} \,\left(\partial\beta\,,\,\theta\right)\right).$$

In the above equation, $\partial \beta \in \pi_1(\mathbf{T}) \cong N$ so that it has a natural pairing with θ . The superscript 'LF' refers to Lagrangian Floer theory.

Analogous to Proposition 2.2, one may simplify the above expression of $W^{\rm LF}$ as follows:

Proposition 2.15. Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold whose generators of rays in its fan are $\{v_i\}_{i=1}^m$. Without loss of generality suppose $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ generate a cone in its fan, and it gives the complex coordinates $z_i := \exp(2\pi \mathbf{i} (v_i, \cdot)) : M_{\mathbb{C}}/M \to \mathbb{C}$. Then W^{LF} can be written as

$$W^{LF} = (1+\delta_1)z_1 + \ldots + (1+\delta_n)z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m (1+\delta_k)q^{\alpha_k}z^{\nu_k}$$

where

(2.9)
$$\delta_k := \sum_{\alpha \neq 0} n_{\beta_k + \alpha} q^{\alpha}$$

in which the summation is over all non-zero $\alpha \in H_2(X)$ represented by rational curves with Chern number $-K_X \cdot \alpha = 0$. As before, $q^{\alpha} = \prod_{i=1}^l q_i^{(\mathbf{p}_i, \alpha)}$ for a chosen basis $\{\mathbf{p}_i\}_{i=1}^l$ of $H^2(X)$. Later we may denote W^{LF} as W_q^{LF} to emphasize its dependency on the coordinate q of the Kähler moduli.

Proof. Equip X with a toric Kähler form ω . According to [15], $n_{\beta} \neq 0$ only when $\beta = \beta_i + \alpha$ for i = 1, ..., m and $\alpha \in H_2(X)$ is represented by a rational curve. Moreover,

$$Z_{\beta_i+\alpha}(r,\theta) = \exp\left(-\int_{\beta} \omega + 2\pi \mathbf{i} (\partial\beta, \theta)\right)$$
$$= \mathbf{e}^{-\int_{\alpha} \omega} \exp\left(-\int_{\beta_i(r)} \omega + 2\pi \mathbf{i} (v_i, \theta)\right)$$
$$= q^{\alpha} Z_i(r, \theta)$$

where Z_i is defined by Equation (2.3). Also, by the results of Cho-Oh [9], we have $n_{\beta_i} = 1$. Thus

$$W^{\rm LF} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(\sum_{\alpha} n_{\beta_i + \alpha} q^{\alpha} \right) Z_i(r, \theta)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left(1 + \sum_{\alpha \neq 0} n_{\beta_i + \alpha} q^{\alpha} \right) Z_i(r, \theta).$$

From the proof of Proposition 2.2, $Z_i = z_i$ for i = 1, ..., n and $Z_j = q^{\alpha_j} z^{v_j}$ for j = n + 1, ..., m. The stated expression for W^{LF} follows.

We may take a change of coordinates on z_i and rewrite the above expression of W^{LF} in the same form as W^{PF} appeared in the last section: By the change of coordinates $z_i \mapsto z_i/(1 + \delta_i)$, the superpotential has the expression

(2.10)
$$W_q^{\text{LF}} = z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m \frac{(1+\delta_k)}{\prod_{j=1}^n (1+\delta_j)^{v_k^j}} q^{\alpha_k} z^{v_k}$$
$$= z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m (1+\tilde{\delta}_k) q^{\alpha_k} z^{v_k}$$

for some formal series $\tilde{\delta}_k$ in q_1, \ldots, q_l with constant terms equal to zero. Notice that the coefficients of W^{LF} are formal power series in q_1, \ldots, q_l . This means W_q^{LF} is defined only in a formal neighborhood Spec $\mathbb{C}[[q_1, \ldots, q_l]]$ of q = 0. Substituting

$$q_k = \mathrm{T}^{\int_{\Psi_k} \omega}$$

for each k = 1, ..., l where T is a formal variable, the coefficients live in the universal Novikov ring

$$\Lambda_0 = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_i \mathrm{T}^{\lambda_i} : a_i \in \mathbb{C}, \lambda_i \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}, \lim_{i \to \infty} \lambda_i = \infty \right\}.$$

Using this form of the superpotential, FOOO proved that

Theorem 2.16 (Mirror theorem by Fukaya-Oh-Ono-Ohta [15], [18]). Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold ⁷ and let q be the coordinate on its complexified Kähler moduli corresponding to the choice of basis $\{\mathbf{p}_i\}_{i=1}^l \subset H^2(X)$ (see Section 2.1). Let W_q^{LF} be the superpotential from Lagrangian Floer theory given by Equation (2.10). Then

$$QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_a^{LF})$$

as algebras⁸. Moreover, the isomorphism is given by sending the generators $\mathbf{p}_k \in QH^*(X,q)$ to $q_k \frac{\partial}{\partial q_k} W_q^{LF}$.

3. Universal unfolding of superpotentials

In the last section we have discussed the Landau-Ginzburg mirror of a toric manifold X, which is a holomorphic function $W : (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n \to \mathbb{C}$. We have seen that the deformation theory of W, which is recorded by its Jacobian ring $\operatorname{Jac}(W)$, captures the enumerative geometry of X, namely its quantum cohomology $QH^*(X)$. In this section we recall some deformation theory in the Landau-Ginzburg side which we will use to prove our main theorem. We recommend Section 2.2 of Gross' book [22] which is an excellent review on this old subject. One of the classical literatures is the text [31] written by Teissier, and the papers [11, 12] by Douai and Sabbah give modern treatments and applications of this subject.

Let f be a holomorphic function on a domain $\mathcal{D} \subset (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$. We are interested in deformations of f, which are defined as follows:

⁷FOOO's theory works for big quantum cohomology of general compact toric manifolds as well. But since we have only written down the superpotential W^{LF} without bulk deformation in the semi-Fano case, we shall confine ourselves to this special case of their theorem.

⁸Indeed they proved more, namely, they are isomorphic as Frobenius algebras.

Definition 3.1 (Unfolding). Let f be a holomorphic function on a domain $\mathcal{D} \subset (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$. An unfolding of f is a pair (U, W), where U is an open neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^l$ for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and W is a holomorphic function defined on $U \times \mathcal{D}$, such that $W|_{\{0\} \times U} = f$.

Naturally one seeks for a universal object in the categories of unfoldings, in the sense that every unfolding comes from pull-back of this universal object. The precise definition is as follows:

Definition 3.2 (Universal unfolding). Let $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a bounded domain and $f : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ a holomorphic function. An unfolding (U, \mathcal{W}) of f is universal if it satisfies the following condition: for every unfolding (V, W) of f, there exists an open subset $V' \subset V$ containing $0 \in V$ and the following commutative diagram of holomorphic maps:



satisfying the conditions that

- (1) $W|_{V'\times\mathcal{D}} = \mathcal{W} \circ \Phi.$
- (2) $Q: V' \to U$ is a holomorphic map with Q(0) = 0 whose induced map on tangent spaces is unique.
- (3) $\Phi|_{\{0\}\times V'}: \{0\} \times \mathcal{D} \to \{0\} \times \mathcal{D}$ is the identity map.

Here $\operatorname{pr}: V' \times \mathcal{D} \to V'$ and $\operatorname{pr}: U \times \mathcal{D} \to U$ are natural projections to the first factor.

Now comes the essential point which we will use in the next section: When f is semi-simple, there is an easy way to write down an universal unfolding of f. First of all, let us recall the definition of semi-simplicity (the Jacobian ring is defined as in Definition 2.3):

Definition 3.3 (Semi-simplicity). Let $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain and $f : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ a holomorphic function. Denote its critical points by $\operatorname{cr}_1, \ldots, \operatorname{cr}_N$. There is a natural homomorphism of algebras $\operatorname{Jac}(f) \to \mathbb{C}^N$ by sending $g \in \operatorname{Jac}(f)$ to $(g(\operatorname{cr}_1), \ldots, g(\operatorname{cr}_N))$. f is said to be semi-simple if this is an isomorphism of algebras.

In the above definition, \mathbb{C}^N is equipped with the standard algebra structure:

$$(a_1,\ldots,a_N)\cdot(b_1,\ldots,b_N):=(a_1b_1,\ldots,a_Nb_N).$$

Going back to our situation, we would like to consider the deformation theory of W_q^{PF} (or W_q^{LF}). By Corollary 5.12 of Iritani's paper [24], the quantum cohomology $QH^*(X,q)$ of a projective toric manifold is semi-simple for a generic Kähler class q. By Theorem 2.12 (Second form of toric mirror theorm), $\text{Jac}(W_q^{\text{PF}}) \cong QH^*(X,q)$, and hence

Theorem 3.4 (Semi-simplicity of superpotential [24]). For generic q, W_a^{PF} is semi-simple.

Now comes the key point (which is classical) in this section:

Theorem 3.5. [31] Let $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ be a domain and $f : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ a holomorphic function. Suppose that f is semi-simple. Let g_1, \ldots, g_N be a basis of $\operatorname{Jac}(f) \cong \mathbb{C}^N$. Then the function $\mathcal{W} : \mathbb{C}^N \times (\mathbb{C}^*)^n \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

$$\mathcal{W}(Q_1,\ldots,Q_N,z) := f(z) + \sum_{j=1}^N Q_j g_j(z)$$

is a universal unfolding of f.

In particular, when the critical values of f are pairwise distinct, $\{g_j := f^{j-1}\}_{j=1}^N$ gives a basis of Jac(f). Thus

$$\mathcal{W}(Q,z) := f(z) + \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} Q_j f^j(z)$$

gives a universal unfolding of f.

4. Equivalence between mirror map and Lagrangian Floer approach

In Sections 2.3 and 2.4, we introduce the superpotentials mirror to a semi-Fano toric manifold written down by using toric mirror maps and Lagrangian Floer theory respectively. Their Jacobian rings are both isomorphic to the small quantum cohomology ring of X. It is natural to conjecture that these two superpotentials are indeed the same. In this section we prove such a statement, under the technical assumption that the instanton-corrected superpotential constructed from the Lagrangian-Floer approach has convergent coefficients. Since $W^{\rm PF}$ is written in terms of the toric mirror transform, while $W^{\rm LF}$ is written in terms of one-pointed open GW invariants, an interesting consequence of such an equality is that one-pointed open GW invariants can be computed by the toric mirror transform.

We will see in Subsections 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 that the above convergence assumption is satisfied when X is of dimension two, or when $X = \mathbb{P}(K_S \oplus \mathcal{O}_S)$ for some toric Fano manifold S.

4.1. The main theorem. Let X be a projective semi-Fano toric *n*-fold whose generators of rays in its fan are denoted by v_1, \ldots, v_m . One has $\operatorname{rank}(H_2(X)) = l := m - n$.

Recall that

$$W^{\rm LF} = z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m \frac{(1+\delta_k)q^{\alpha_k}}{\prod_{j=1}^n (1+\delta_j)^{v_k^j}} z^{v_k}$$

and

for

$$W^{\rm PF} = z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m \hat{q}^{\alpha_k}(q) z^{\nu_k}.$$

Based on the coefficients of these expressions, we define the following 'mirror maps':

Definition 4.1. Let X be a toric semi-Fano n-fold whose generators of rays in its fan are denoted by v_1, \ldots, v_m . Define $P^{LF} = (P_1^{LF}, \ldots, P_l^{LF})$,

$$P_i^{LF} := \frac{(1+\delta_{i+n})q^{\alpha_{i+n}}}{\prod_{j=1}^n (1+\delta_j)^{v_{i+n}^j}}$$

$$i = 1, \dots, l. \text{ On the other hand, define } P^{PF} = (P_1^{PF}, \dots, P_l^{PF}),$$

$$P_i^{PF} = \hat{q}^{\alpha_{i+n}}(q)$$

for i = 1, ..., l.

The readers are referred to Sections 2.3 and 2.4 for the explanations of notations involved in the above definition. For each i = 1, ..., l, P_i^{LF} is a formal power series living in the universal Novikov ring Λ_0 . On the other hand, since $\hat{q}_i(q)$, i = 1, ..., l, are convergent for ||q|| sufficiently small by Iritani's work [24], P^{PF} defines a holomorphic map from a neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^l$ to \mathbb{C}^l .

Our main theorem can now be stated as follows:

Theorem 4.2. Let X be a compact toric semi-Fano manifold, W_q^{LF} and W_q^{PF} the instanton-corrected superpotentials by use of Lagrangian Floer theory and toric mirror maps respectively. Then

$$W_a^{LF} = W_a^{PF}$$

provided that there exists an open polydisk $U_q \subset \mathbb{C}^l$ centered at $q = 0 \in \mathbb{C}^l$ in which P^{LF} defined above converges and defines an analytic map $U_q \to \mathbb{C}^l$.

The proof of the above theorem occupies the rest of this subsection. The idea is the following: Using Theorem 2.12 and 2.16, $\operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\mathrm{LF}}) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\mathrm{PF}})$. From this together with semi-simplicity, it follows that W_q^{LF} and W_q^{PF} have the same critical values. Then we put them into a universal unfolding and this gives us constant families of critical points linking those of W_q^{PF} and W_q^{LF} . Since they have the same critical values, they indeed correspond to the same based point in the universal family, and hence they are indeed the same.

We always assume that there exists an open polydisk $U_q \subset \mathbb{C}^l$ centered at $q = 0 \in \mathbb{C}^l$ in which P^{LF} converges and defines an analytic map $U_q \to \mathbb{C}^l$. By Theorem 2.9, P^{PF} is convergent in an open neighborhood of q = 0. Thus by shrinking U_q if necessary, we may assume that P^{PF} also defines an analytic map on U_q .

Let $W: \mathbb{C}^l \times (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n \to \mathbb{C}$ be the map

(4.1)
$$W(P,z) := z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m P_{k-n} z^{\nu_k}.$$

Then $W^{\text{LF}}(q, z) = W(P^{\text{LF}}(q), z)$ and $W^{\text{PF}}(q, z) = W(P^{\text{PF}}(q), z)$. It suffices to prove that $P^{\text{LF}} = P^{\text{PF}}$ on U_q .

By Theorem 3.4, $W_q^{\text{PF}} = W_{P^{\text{PF}}(q)}$ is semi-simple for generic q. Moreover P^{PF} is holomorphic which maps U_q onto an open set of \mathbb{C}^l around P = 0. Thus W_P is semi-simple for generic P. Let Nbe the number of critical points of f. For generic $P \in (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$, W_P has N distinct critical values. Thus we can fix a base-point $\underline{q} = (\underline{q}_1, \dots, \underline{q}_l) \in U_q$ with $P^{\text{LF}}(\underline{q}), P^{\text{PF}}(\underline{q}) \in (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$ such that $W_{\underline{q}}^{\text{LF}} = W_{P^{\text{LF}}(\underline{q})}$ and $W_q^{\text{PF}} = W_{P^{\text{PF}}(q)}$ are semi-simple, and both $W_{P^{\text{LF}}(q)}$ and $W_{P^{\text{PF}}(q)}$ have N distinct critical values.

Denote $\underline{P} = P^{\mathrm{LF}}(\underline{q}) \in (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$ and let $f = W_{\underline{P}}$ which is semi-simple and has N distinct critical values. Let $\mathcal{D} \subset (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$ be a bounded domain containing all the critical points of f. Then \mathcal{W} : $\mathbb{C}^N \times \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

(4.2)
$$\mathcal{W}(Q,\zeta) := f(\zeta) + \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} Q_i \big(f(\zeta) \big)^i$$

for $Q = (Q_1, \ldots, Q_{N-1}) \in \mathbb{C}^N$ gives a universal unfolding of $f|_{\mathcal{D}}$ (see Section 3).

Proposition 4.3. Let $f : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a semi-simple holomorphic function on a bounded domain $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ with $\dim(\operatorname{Jac}(f)) = N$, and $\mathcal{W} : \mathbb{C}^N \times \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ the holomorphic function defined by Equation (4.2). Then there exists an open neighborhood Δ_Q of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^N$ such that for every $Q \in \Delta_Q$, \mathcal{W}_Q and f have the same set of critical points.

Proof. From Equation (4.2), one has

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{W}(Q,\zeta)}{\partial \zeta_i} = \left(1 + \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} i \, Q_i f^{i-1}(\zeta)\right) \frac{\partial f(\zeta)}{\partial \zeta_i}.$$

In the bounded domain \mathcal{D} , f^{i-1} is bounded for all $i = 0, \ldots, N-1$. Thus there exists an open neighborhood Δ_Q of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^N$ such that for all $Q \in \Delta_Q$ and $\zeta \in \mathcal{D}$, $1 + \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} i Q_i f^{i-1}(\zeta)$ is never zero. Thus $\frac{\partial \mathcal{W}(Q,\zeta)}{\partial \zeta_i} = 0$ if and only if $\frac{\partial f(\zeta)}{\partial \zeta_i} = 0$, and hence \mathcal{W}_Q and f have the same set of critical points.

On the other hand, W_P gives an unfolding of f. From now on, for all $P \in \mathbb{C}^l$ we restrict the domain of W_P to \mathcal{D} and still denote it by W_P to simplify notations. As a result, there exists an open polydisk $\Delta_P \subset (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$ centered at \underline{P} , holomorphic maps $\mathcal{Q} : \Delta_P \to \mathbb{C}^N$ and $\zeta : \Delta_P \times \mathcal{D} \to (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$ with $\mathcal{Q}(\underline{P}) = 0$ and $\zeta(\underline{P}, z) = z$ such that

(4.3)
$$W(P,z) = \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}(P),\zeta(P,z))$$

for all $(P, z) \in \Delta_P \times \mathcal{D}$.

Proposition 4.4. Let $f : \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a semi-simple holomorphic function on a bounded domain $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{C}^n$ with $\dim(\operatorname{Jac}(f)) = N$, and let $\mathcal{W} : \mathbb{C}^N \times \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ be defined by Equation (4.2). Let $W : U \times \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a holomorphic function with $W_{\underline{P}} = f$ for some $\underline{P} \in U$. Suppose $\mathcal{Q} : U \to \mathbb{C}^N$ and $\zeta : U \times \mathcal{D} \to (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$ are holomorphic functions with $\mathcal{Q}(\underline{P}) = 0$ and $\zeta(\underline{P}, z) = z$ such that

$$W(P, z) = \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}(P), \zeta(P, z)).$$

If $\left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial P_k} \Big|_{\underline{P}} W_P : k = 1, \dots, l \right\}$ is a linearly independent subset of the vector space $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$, then the Jacobian matrix $\frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}}{\partial P}(\underline{P})$ is non-degenerate.

Proof. Differentiating both sides of the above equation with respect to P_k (k = 1, ..., l), one has

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial P_k}(P,z) = \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\partial W}{\partial Q_i}(\mathcal{Q}(P),\zeta(P,z)) \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}_i}{\partial P_k}(P) + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial W}{\partial \zeta_j}(\mathcal{Q}(P),\zeta(P,z)) \frac{\partial \zeta_j}{\partial P_k}(P,z)$$

for all (P, z). Now take $P = \underline{P}$ and z to be a critical point cr of f. Then $\mathcal{Q}(\underline{P}) = 0$ and $\zeta(\underline{P}, cr) = cr$, and so

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \zeta_j}(\mathcal{Q}(\underline{P}), \zeta(\underline{P}, \mathrm{cr})) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial z_j}(\mathrm{cr}) = 0$$

for all $j = 1, \ldots, n$. Thus

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial P_k}(\underline{P}, \mathrm{cr}) = \sum_{i=1}^N \frac{\partial W}{\partial Q_i}(0, \mathrm{cr}) \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}_i}{\partial P_k}(\underline{P}) = \sum_{i=1}^N \left(f(\mathrm{cr})\right)^i \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}_i}{\partial P_k}(\underline{P})$$

for each critical point cr of f. Label the critical points of f as cr_1, \ldots, cr_N . Then

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial P_k}(\underline{P}, \mathrm{cr}_j) = \sum_{i=1}^N \left(f(\mathrm{cr}_j) \right)^i \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}_i}{\partial P_k}(\underline{P}).$$

Since the critical values of f are pairwise distinct, the square matrix $(f^i(\operatorname{cr}_j))_{i,j=1}^N$ is non-degenerate. Also by assumption $\left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial P_k} \Big|_{\underline{P}} W_P : k = 1, \dots, l \right\}$ is linearly independent in $\operatorname{Jac}(f) \cong \bigoplus_{j=1}^N \mathbb{C} \langle \operatorname{cr}_j \rangle$, and so the matrix $\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial P_k} \Big|_{\underline{P}} W_P(\operatorname{cr}_j) \right)_{j,k}$ is non-degenerate. This implies that the Jacobian matrix $\frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}}{\partial P}(\underline{P})$ is non-degenerate. **Proposition 4.5.** Let X be a toric manifold and let $W : \mathbb{C}^l \times (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n \to \mathbb{C}$ be defined by Equation (4.1). Fix $\underline{P} \in (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$ and let $f = W_{\underline{P}}$. Then $\left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial P_k} \Big|_{\underline{P}} W_P : k = 1, \ldots, l \right\}$ is a linearly independent subset in $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$.

Proof. Under the isomorphism $QH^*(X, \omega_{\underline{q}}) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(f)$ given by the Mirror Theorem 2.16 of FOOO, $\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i}\Big|_{\underline{q}} \in H^2(X)$ is mapped to $\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i}\Big|_{\underline{q}} W_q^{\operatorname{LF}} \in \operatorname{Jac}(f)$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, l$. Thus

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i}\Big|_{\underline{q}} W_q^{\rm LF} = \sum_{k=1}^l \frac{\partial P_k^{\rm LF}(\underline{q})}{\partial q_i} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial P_k} \Big|_{\underline{P}} W_P \right), i = 1, \dots, l$$

is a linearly independent subset of $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$. This implies the Jacobian matrix $\left(\frac{\partial P_k^{\operatorname{LF}}(q)}{\partial q_i}\right)_{i,k=1}^n$ is nondegenerate and $\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial P_k}\Big|_{\underline{P}} W_P: k=1,\ldots,l\right\}$ is a linearly independent subset in $\operatorname{Jac}(f)$. \Box

Proposition 4.6. By contracting Δ_P and \mathcal{D} if necessary (still requiring that \mathcal{D} contains all the critical points of f), we can achieve the following:

- (1) Q is an embedding.
- (2) W_P is semi-simple for all $P \in \Delta_P$.
- (3) $\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{Q}(P)}$ has the same set of critical points as f for all $P \in \Delta_P$.
- (4) $\frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial z}(P, z)$ is non-degenerate for every $P \in \Delta_P$ and $z \in \mathcal{D}$.

Proof. Combining Propositions 4.4 and 4.5, $\frac{\partial Q}{\partial P}(\underline{P})$ is non-degenerate. Thus Q is a local embedding around $P = \underline{P}$, and thus Condition (1) can be achieved.

 W_P is semi-simple at <u>P</u>, and semi-simplicity is an open condition. Thus Condition (2) can be achieved.

By Proposition 4.3, \mathcal{W}_Q has the same set of critical points as f in a neighborhood Δ_Q . The inverse image of Δ_Q is an open set containing \underline{P} , and so Condition (3) can be achieved.

Since $\zeta_{\underline{P}} = \text{Id}, \frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial P}(\underline{P}, z)$ is non-degenerate for all $z \in \mathcal{D}$. We take a compact subset $\overline{\mathcal{D}} \subset \mathcal{D}$ whose interior $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ contains all the critical points of f, and restrict ζ_P on $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$. Then for P sufficiently close to \underline{P} and $z \in \overline{\mathcal{D}}, \frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial z_i}(P, z)$ is non-degenerate.

From now on we always take Δ_P and \mathcal{D} such that all the conditions in Proposition 4.6 are satisfied. The preimage of Δ_P under P^{LF} is an open subset of U_q containing the based point \underline{q} . Thus we may take a polydisk $\Delta_q \subset U_q$ centered at q such that $P^{\text{LF}}(\Delta_q) \subset \Delta_P$.

Let

$$\hat{\Delta}_P := \{ (P, z) \in \Delta_P \times \mathcal{D} : z \text{ is a critical point of } W_P \}.$$

 $\hat{\Delta}_P$ is an N-fold cover of Δ_P by projection to the first coordinate, where N is the number of critical points of $f = W_{\underline{P}}$. Moreover since W_P is semi-simple for all $P \in \Delta_P$, $\hat{\Delta}_P$ consists of N connected components, each containing a point of the form $(\underline{P}, \operatorname{cr}_0)$ where cr_0 is a critical point of f. Thus for every critical point $\operatorname{cr}(P)$ of W_P , there exists a unique critical point cr_0 of f such that $(P, \operatorname{cr}(P))$ and $(\underline{P}, \operatorname{cr}_0)$ are lying in the same connected component. We say that cr_0 is the critical point of f corresponding to $\operatorname{cr}(P)$. **Lemma 4.7.** For $P \in \Delta_P$, let cr(P) be a critical point of W_P , and let cr_0 be the critical point of f corresponding to cr(P). Then

$$\zeta(P, \operatorname{cr}(P)) = \operatorname{cr}_0.$$

Proof. Differentiating the equation (4.3) with respect to z_i for i = 1, ..., n, we have

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial z_i}(P,z) = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial W}{\partial \zeta_j} (\mathcal{Q}(P), \zeta(P,z)) \frac{\partial \zeta_j}{\partial z_i}(P,z).$$

Let $z = \operatorname{cr}(P)$ be a critical point of W_P . Then the left hand side is equal to zero for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. By Condition (4) of Proposition 4.6, $\left(\frac{\partial \zeta_j}{\partial z_i}(P, z)\right)_{i,j=1}^n$ is non-degenerate. Thus for all $j = 1, \ldots, n$, we have

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{W}}{\partial \zeta_j} \big(\mathcal{Q}(P), \zeta(P, \operatorname{cr}(P)) \big) = 0,$$

meaning that $\zeta(P, \operatorname{cr}(P))$ is a critical point of $\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{Q}(P)}$. By Proposition 4.3, $\mathcal{W}_{\mathcal{Q}(P)}$ has the same set of critical points of f. Thus for every $P, \zeta(P, \operatorname{cr}(P))$ is a critical point of f.

A path $\gamma : [0,1] \to \Delta_P$ joining P and \underline{P} lifts to a path $\hat{\gamma} : [0,1] \to \hat{\Delta}_P$ joining $(P, \operatorname{cr}(P))$ to $(\underline{P}, \operatorname{cr}_0)$, where cr_0 is the critical point of f corresponding to $\operatorname{cr}(P)$. Now for every $t, \hat{\gamma}(t) = (\gamma(t), z)$, where z is a critical point of $W_{\gamma(t)}$. By the above deduction $\zeta \circ \hat{\gamma}(t)$ is a critical point of f. But the critical points of f are isolated, which forces $\zeta \circ \hat{\gamma}$ to be constant. Thus

$$\zeta(P, \operatorname{cr}(P)) = \zeta \circ \hat{\gamma}(0) = \zeta \circ \hat{\gamma}(1) = \zeta(\underline{P}, \operatorname{cr}_0) = \operatorname{cr}_0.$$

Proposition 4.8. Let U be a contractible open subset of $(\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$ containing $\Delta_P \ni \underline{P}$ such that for all $P \in U$, W_P is semi-simple. Let $\{\operatorname{cr}_i(P)\}$ be the set of critical points of W_P , where $\operatorname{cr}_i : U \to (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$ are holomorphic maps. Denote the critical points of f corresponding to $\operatorname{cr}_i(P)$ by $\underline{\operatorname{cr}}_i$.

Then the holomorphic map $Q: \Delta_P \to \mathbb{C}^N$ extends to U. Moreover

$$W(P, \operatorname{cr}_i(P)) = \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}(P), \underline{cr}_i)$$

for all $P \in U$ and $i = 1, \ldots, N$.

Proof. We have

$$W(P, z) = \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}(P), \zeta(P, z))$$

for all $P \in \Delta_P$ and $z \in \mathcal{D}$. Now take $z = \operatorname{cr}_i(P)$. By Lemma 4.7, $\zeta(P, \operatorname{cr}_i(P)) = \underline{cr}_i$. Thus for all $P \in \Delta_P$,

$$W(P, \operatorname{cr}_{i}(P)) = \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}(P), \underline{cr}_{i})$$
$$= f(\underline{cr}_{i}) + \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} f^{k}(\underline{cr}_{i})\mathcal{Q}_{k}(P)$$

Since f has pairwise distinct critical values, the matrix $M = (f^k(\underline{cr}_i))$ is invertible. Thus the above equation determines $\mathcal{Q}_k(P)$, which extends to define \mathcal{Q} on U.

From now on, we take $\text{Dom}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ to be a contractible open subset of $(\mathbb{C}^{\times})^l$ with Δ_P and $P^{\text{PF}}(\underline{q})$ such that for all $P \in U$, W_P is semi-simple and has pairwise distinct critical values. By the above proposition \mathcal{Q} extends to be defined on $U_{\mathcal{Q}}$.

Lemma 4.9. Let $A = (\mathbb{C}^N, \cdot)$ be an algebra where the multiplication is given by

$$(a_1,\ldots,a_N)\cdot(b_1,\ldots,b_N)=(a_1b_1,\ldots,a_Nb_N)$$

Denote by $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^N$ the standard basis of \mathbb{C}^N . If $\Phi: A \to A$ is an isomorphism of Frobenius algebras, then Φ is a permutation matrix written in terms of the basis $\{e_i\}_{i=1}^N$, that is, there exists a permutation σ on $\{1, \ldots, N\}$ such that $\Phi(e_i) = e_{\sigma(i)}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, N$.

Proof. Notice that $e_i \cdot e_i = e_i$ and $e_i \cdot e_j = 0$ for $i \neq j$. Since Φ preserves the product structure, one has

$$\Phi(e_i) \cdot \Phi(e_i) = \Phi(e_i);$$

$$\Phi(e_i) \cdot \Phi(e_i) = 0 \text{ for } i \neq j.$$

Let $\Phi(e_i) = (\Phi_i^1, \ldots, \Phi_i^N)$. The first equation implies $(\Phi_i^j)^2 = \Phi_i^j$ for all $i, j = 1, \ldots, N$, which forces Φ_i^j to be either 0 or 1. Then the second equation implies there exists a permutation σ on $\{1, \ldots, N\}$ such that $\Phi(e_i) = e_{\sigma(i)}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, N$.

Proposition 4.10. For all $q \in \Delta_q \subset \mathbb{C}^l$, $i = 1, \ldots, l$ and $j = 1, \ldots, N$, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}^{LF}(q), \underline{\mathrm{cr}}_j) = \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}^{PF}(q), \underline{\mathrm{cr}}_j).$$

Proof. Combining the toric mirror theorem and FOOO's mirror theorem, one has the isomorphism of algebras

$$\operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{LF}}) \cong QH^*(X,q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$$

where the isomorphism $QH^*(X, \omega_q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{LF}})$ is given by sending $v \in QH^*(X, \omega_q)$ to $\partial_v W_q^{\operatorname{LF}}$, and the isomorphism $QH^*(X, \omega_q) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$ is given by sending $v \in QH^*(X, \omega_q)$ to $\partial_v W_q^{\operatorname{PF}}$. (Here q is a point in $H^*(X)$ and v is a tangent vector at $q \in H^*(X)$, and so the directional derivatives make sense.)

Moreover, since $W_q^{\text{LF}} = W_{P^{\text{LF}}(q)}$ is semi-simple, one has $\text{Jac}(W_q^{\text{LF}}) \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ as algebras, where the isomorphisms are given by evaluations at critical points, that is, sending $f \in \operatorname{Jac}(W_{q}^{\mathrm{LF}})$ to $(f(\operatorname{cr}_1(\operatorname{P^{LF}}(q))), \ldots, f(\operatorname{cr}_N(\operatorname{P^{LF}}(q)))) \in \mathbb{C}^N$. Similarly $\operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}}) \cong \mathbb{C}^N$ by sending $f \in \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$ to $(f(\operatorname{cr}_j(\operatorname{P^{PF}}(q))))_{j=1}^N \in \mathbb{C}^N$. Together with the above isomorphism $\operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{LF}}) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(W_q^{\operatorname{PF}})$, this gives an isomorphism $\mathbb{C}^N \to \mathbb{C}^N$ as algebras, which must be a permutation matrix σ by Lemma 4.9. In particular, since $\Psi_i \in QH^*(X, \omega_q)$ is mapped to $\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} W_q^{\text{LF}} \in \text{Jac}(W_q^{\text{LF}})$ and to $\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} W_q^{\text{PF}} \in \text{Jac}(W_q^{\text{PF}})$, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} W \left(P^{\rm LF}(q), \operatorname{cr}_j(P^{\rm LF}(q)) \right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} W \left(P^{\rm PF}(q), \operatorname{cr}_{\sigma(j)}(P^{\rm PF}(q)) \right)$$

Since the leading order terms of $P^{\rm LF}$ and $P^{\rm PF}$ are equal to each other, σ must be the identity. Using Proposition 4.8, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{LF}}(q), \underline{\mathrm{cr}}_j) = \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} \mathcal{W}(\mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{PF}}(q), \underline{\mathrm{cr}}_j).$$

Proposition 4.10 gives

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}_i^{\mathrm{LF}}}{\partial q} f^i(\underline{\mathrm{cr}}_j) = \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}_i^{\mathrm{PF}}}{\partial q} f^i(\underline{\mathrm{cr}}_j).$$

Let us denote the critical values of f by cv_j , j = 1, ..., N, which are pairwise distinct. Since the matrix $(cv_i^i)_{i,j=1,...,N}$ is non-degenerate, the above equality implies that

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}^{\rm LF}}{\partial q} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{Q}^{\rm PF}}{\partial q}$$

and so $\mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{LF}} - \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{PF}}$ is a constant. As $q \to 0$, both $P^{\mathrm{LF}}(q)$ and $P^{\mathrm{PF}}(q)$ tend to 0. Thus $\mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{LF}}(q) - \mathcal{Q}^{\mathrm{PF}}(q) = \mathcal{Q}(P^{\mathrm{LF}}(q)) - \mathcal{Q}(P^{\mathrm{PF}}(q))$ can only be 0. In particular when we put $q = \underline{q}$, $\mathcal{Q}(P^{\mathrm{LF}}(\underline{q})) = \mathcal{Q}(P^{\mathrm{PF}}(\underline{q})) = 0$, and so $W_{q_0}^{\mathrm{PF}} = W_{q_0}^{\mathrm{LF}}$. Since q_0 is arbitrary, this finishes the proof of Theorem 4.2.

4.2. Application to computing open GW invariants. Now we deduce enumerative consequences of the equality $W^{\text{LF}} = W^{\text{PF}}$ (see Theorem 4.2). In particular, we obtain a very powerful method to effectively compute *all* the open GW invariants of semi-Fano toric manifolds.

To begin with, recall that the equality gives

$$\frac{1+\delta_k}{\prod_{j=1}^n (1+\delta_j)^{v_k^j}} q^{\alpha_k} = \hat{q}^{\alpha_k}(q)$$

for k = n + 1, ..., m, where the left hand side is a coefficient of W^{LF} and the right hand side is the corresponding coefficient of W^{PF} . The toric mirror transform $\hat{q}(q)$ can be computed explicitly as follows [20]. Expand the *I*-function as

$$I(\hat{q}, z) = z \, \mathbf{e}^{(\mathbf{p}_1 \log \hat{q}_1 + \ldots + \mathbf{p}_l \log \hat{q}_l)/z} \left(1 + \frac{1}{z} \sum_{j=1}^l \mathbf{p}_j f_j(\hat{q}) + \mathbf{o}(z^{-1}) \right).$$

Then the inverse mirror map is given by

$$q_i = \mathbf{e}^{f_i(\hat{q})} \hat{q}_i$$

and the mirror map is obtained by inverting the above formal power series. It is of the form $\hat{q}_i = \mathbf{e}^{\phi_i(q)} q_i$ for $i = 1, \dots, l$. Thus the above equality gives

(4.4)
$$\prod_{j=1}^{m} (1+\delta_j)^{(D_j,\,\alpha_k)} = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^{l} \left(\mathbf{p_i}\,,\,\alpha_k\right)\phi_i(q)\right)$$

for $k = n + 1, \ldots, m$. Now recall that

$$\delta_j = \sum_{\alpha \neq 0} n_{\beta_j + \alpha} q^{\alpha}$$

is expressed in terms of open GW invariants $n_{\beta_j+\alpha}$. Thus one would like to solve for δ_j as a series in q in order to compute the open GW invariants. Notice that we have l equations (k runs from n+1 to m), while we have m unknown variables δ_k 's! It turns out that at most l-1 of the δ_k 's are non-zero. To see this we need the following result in González-Iritani [21]:

Proposition 4.11 (Proposition 4.3 of [21]). Let X be a compact semi-Fano toric manifold and denote its irreducible toric divisors by D_1, \ldots, D_m . Define

(4.5)
$$g_0^{(i)}(\hat{q}_1, \dots, \hat{q}_l) := \sum_{\substack{(-K_X, d) = 0 \\ (D_i, d) < 0 \\ (D_j, d) \ge 0 \ \forall j \neq i}} \frac{(-1)^{(D_i, d)}(-(D_i, d) - 1)!}{\prod_{j \neq i} (D_j, d)!} \hat{q}^d.$$

Then $g_0^{(i)} = 0$ if and only if the primitive generator v_i corresponding to D_i is a vertex of the fan polytope (the convex hull of primitive generators of rays in the fan) of X.

From the above proposition, we deduce that

Corollary 4.12. Assume the notations as in Proposition 2.15. At most l-1 of the δ_i 's are non-zero, where l = m - n is the dimension of $H^2(X)$. Moreover, those divisors D_i whose corresponding δ_i are non-zero are linearly independent in $H^2(X, \mathbb{Q})$.

Proof. By Proposition 4.11, each vertex of the fan polytope corresponds to an index i = 1, ..., m such that $g_0^{(i)} = 0$. A non-degenerate *n*-dimensional polytope has at least (n+1) vertices, and hence at least (n+1) of the g_i 's are zero. Thus at most m - (n+1) = l - 1 of them are non-zero.

Suppose $\delta_i \neq 0$. Then there exists $\alpha \in H_2(X)$ represented by a rational curve with Chern number zero such that $n_{\beta_i+\alpha} \neq 0$. The class α is represented by a tree C of genus 0 curves in X. Let C' be the irreducible component of C which intersects with the disk representing β_i . Let $d = [C'] \in H_2(X)$. Then the Chern number of d is also zero since X is semi-Fano. Furthermore, $D_i \cdot d < 0$ because the invariance of $n_{\beta_i+\alpha}$ under deformation of the Lagrangian torus fiber L implies that C' is contained inside the toric divisor D_i . We claim that $D_j \cdot d \geq 0$ for all $j \neq i$. When n = 2, this is obvious. When $n \geq 3$, $D_j \cdot d < 0$ for some other $j \neq i$ implies that the curve C' is contained inside the codimension two subvariety $D_i \cap D_j$. However, the intersection of C' with the disk representing β_i cannot be inside $D_i \cap D_j$ since β_i is of Maslov index two. So we conclude that $D_j \cdot d \geq 0$ for all $j \neq i$. Thus $d = [C'] \in H_2(X)$ satisfies the properties that

$$(-K_X, d) = 0$$

$$(D_i, d) < 0$$

$$(D_j, d) \ge 0 \text{ for all } j \ne i.$$

This contributes to a term of $g_0^{(i)}$, and hence $g_0^{(i)} \neq 0$ (distinct d leads to distinct \hat{q}^d , and hence they do not cancel each other). But there are at most (l-1) non-zero $g_0^{(i)}$'s. It follows that at most (l-1) of the δ_i 's are non-zero.

Let $I \subset \{1, \ldots, m\}$ be the collection of indices such that $\delta_i \neq 0$. By the above argument, $\{v_i : i \in \{1, \ldots, m\} - I\}$ is the set of vertices of the fan polytope. Suppose that $\{D_i : i \in I\}$ is linearly dependent in $H^2(X, \mathbb{Q})$. Then there exists $\nu \in M - \{0\}$ such that $(\nu, v_i) = 0$ for all $i \notin I$. However this is impossible since $\{v_i : i \in \{1, \ldots, m\} - I\}$ spans the whole $N_{\mathbb{R}}$. Thus $\{D_i : i \in I\}$ is linearly independent in $H^2(X, \mathbb{Q})$.

Let $I = \{i_1 < \ldots < i_K\} \subset \{1, \ldots, m\}$ be the collection of indices i such that v_i is not a vertex of the fan polytope. The above corollary says that $\delta_i \neq 0$ only when $i \in I$. Complete $\{D_i : i \in I\}$ into a basis of $H^2(X, \mathbb{Q})$. Denote its dual basis by $\{\tilde{\Psi}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\Psi}_l\} \subset H_2(X, \mathbb{Q})$. From Equation (4.4),

$$1 + \delta_{i_k} = \prod_{j=1}^m (1 + \delta_j)^{\left(D_j, \tilde{\Psi}_k\right)} = \exp\left(\sum_{i=1}^l \left(\mathbf{p}_i, \tilde{\Psi}_k\right) \phi_i(q)\right)$$

for k = 1, ..., K. From this we obtain all the one-pointed open GW invariants of a Lagrangian toric fiber of X.

4.3. **Examples.** In this section we discuss our main Theorem 4.2 and its consequence on computation of open GW invariants in several examples.

4.3.1. Semi-Fano toric surfaces. In the paper [6] by the first and the second authors, the open GW invariants and superpotentials W^{LF} of semi-Fano toric surfaces have been computed. The main result is the following:

Theorem 4.13 (The instanton-corrected superpotential in surface case [6]). Let X be a compact semi-Fano toric surface. Let $\beta \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$ be a class of disks with Maslov index two bounded by a Lagrangian torus fiber \mathbf{T} . Then the genus 0 one-point open GW invariant n_β is either one or zero according to whether β is admissible or not.

As a consequence,

$$W^{LF} = (1+\delta_1)z_1 + \ldots + (1+\delta_n)z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m (1+\delta_k)q^{\alpha_k}z^{\nu_k}$$

where

$$\delta_k = \sum_{\beta_k + \alpha \text{ is admissible}} q^{\alpha}$$

The admissibility condition appeared in the above theorem is combinatoric in nature and is defined as follows:

Definition 4.14 (Admissibility of disks in surface case.). Let X be a compact semi-Fano toric surface and denote a regular toric fiber by **T**. A class $\beta \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$ is admissible iff $\beta = b + \sum_k s_k D_k$, where

- (1) $b \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$ is a basic disk class intersecting D_0 once;
- (2) D_k 's are toric divisors which form a chain of (-2)-curves. In particular the summation in the above equation is finite;
- (3) Both $s_0 \ge s_1 \ge s_2 \ge \cdots$ and $s_0 \ge s_{-1} \ge s_{-2} \ge \cdots$ are nondecreasing integer sequences with $|s_k s_{k+1}| = 0$ or 1 for each k, and the last term of each sequence is not greater than one.

From the above definition, it follows that the number of admissible disks is finite. Thus $\delta_k = \sum_{\beta_k + \alpha \text{ is admissible}} q^{\alpha}$ is just a finite sum, and it follows that W^{LF} converges. By Theorem 4.2, we have the

Corollary 4.15. Let X be a compact semi-Fano toric surface. Then

$$W^{PF} = W^{LF}.$$

Thus (1.1) holds unconditionally in this case.

We remark that since the toric mirror transform is written down in terms of series in the Kähler parameters q, checking the above equality by brute force requires non-trivial techniques on handling infinite series.

4.3.2. Canonical line bundles of toric Fano manifolds. Another class of semi-Fano toric manifolds that we can check convergence of W^{LF} is $X = \mathbb{P}(K_S \oplus \mathcal{O}_S)$, where S is a toric Fano manifold.

Theorem 4.16. Let $X = \mathbb{P}(K_S \oplus \mathcal{O}_S)$, where S is a compact toric Fano manifold. Then $W^{LF}(q, z)$ converges and defines a holomorphic function in $\Delta_q \times (\mathbb{C}^{\times})^n$, where Δ_q is an open neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^l$. Combining with Theorem 4.2,

$$W^{LF} = W^{PF}.$$

To prove this, we will use the following result proved by the first author [5] on equating open GW invariants with some closed GW invariants, and computation of toric mirror transform.

Theorem 4.17 (Open and closed GW invariants [5]). Let **T** be a regular toric fiber of $X = \mathbb{P}(K_S \oplus \mathcal{O}_S)$, where S is a toric Fano manifold, and let $\beta_0 \in \pi_2(X, \mathbf{T})$ be the basic disk class which intersects

the zero section once. Then for every $\alpha \in H_2(X)$ represented by a rational curve of Chern number zero,

$$n_{\beta_0+\alpha} = \langle \mathrm{pt} \rangle_{0,1,h+\alpha}$$

where $h \in H_2(X)$ is the fiber class and $pt \in H^n(X)$ is the Poincaré dual of a point in X.

Proof of Theorem 4.16. Denote the generators of rays in the fan of S by $u_1, \ldots, u_m \in N$, and without loss of generality assume that u_1, \ldots, u_n generates a cone in the fan. Then the generators of rays in the fan of X is $v_0 = (0, 1), v_{\infty} = (0, -1), v_i = (u_i, 1) \in N \times \mathbb{Z}$. W^{LF} in this case is given by

$$W^{\rm LF} = (1+\delta_0)z_0 + q_0 z_0^{-1} + z_1 + \ldots + z_n + \sum_{k=n+1}^m q^{\alpha_k} z^{\nu_k}$$

where $q_0 = \mathbf{e}^{-A}$, A is the symplectic area of the fiber class; q_1, \ldots, q_l are the Kähler parameters of S corresponding to a choice of basis $\{\mathbf{p}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{p}_l\}$ of $H^2(S)$, and α_k is defined by Equation (2.5). It suffices to prove that

$$\delta_0 = \sum_{\alpha \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}} q^{\alpha} n_{\beta_0 + \alpha}$$

converges. By Theorem 4.17,

$$\delta_0 = \sum_{\alpha \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}} q^{\alpha} \langle \text{pt} \rangle_{0,1,h+\alpha}.$$

The right hand side in the above theorem are closed GW invariants, which can be found in the coefficients of J-function as follows. From Equation (2.8), one has

$$\begin{split} J(q,z) &= z \, \mathbf{e}^{(\mathbf{p}_1 \log q_1 + \ldots + \mathbf{p}_l \log q_l)/z} \left(1 + \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \\ d \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}}} q^d \left\langle 1, \frac{\phi_\alpha}{z - \psi} \right\rangle_{0,2,d} \phi^\alpha \right) \\ &= z \, \mathbf{e}^{(\mathbf{p}_1 \log q_1 + \ldots + \mathbf{p}_l \log q_l)/z} \left(1 + \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \\ d \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}}} \frac{q^d}{z} \sum_{k \ge 0} \left(\langle 1, \phi_\alpha \psi^k \rangle_{0,2,d} \frac{\phi^\alpha}{z^k} \right) \right) \\ &= z \, \mathbf{e}^{(\mathbf{p}_1 \log q_1 + \ldots + \mathbf{p}_l \log q_l)/z} \left(1 + \sum_{\substack{\alpha, \\ d \in H_2^{\text{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}}} \frac{q^d}{z} \sum_{k \ge 1} \left(\langle \phi_\alpha \psi^{k-1} \rangle_{0,1,d} \frac{\phi^\alpha}{z^k} \right) \right) \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from the string equation. Each coefficient of J takes value in $H^*(X)$, which can be written as linear combinations of ϕ^{α} 's. By taking the term corresponding to k = 1 in the above summation and consider the component $\phi_{\alpha} = \text{pt}$ (so that $\phi^{\alpha} = 1$, the fundamental class), It follows that the component of fundamental class in the 1/z-term of J is

$$\sum_{d \in H_2^{\mathrm{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}} q^d \langle \mathrm{pt} \rangle_{0,1,d}.$$

By dimension counting, $\langle \text{pt} \rangle_{0,1,d} \neq 0$ only when $\dim \mathcal{M}_{0,1}(d) = c_1(d) + n + 1 - 3 = n$, that is, $c_1(d) = 2$, and this holds if and only if $d = h + \alpha$ for some α represented by rational curves with $c_1(\alpha) = 0$. Thus the above expression is equal to

$$q^h \sum_{\alpha \in H_2^{\mathrm{eff}}(X) \setminus \{0\}} q^{\alpha} \langle \mathrm{pt} \rangle_{0,1,h+\alpha} = q^h \delta_0.$$

Since the coefficients of J are convergent (see Theorem 2.9 and the remark below there), in particular δ_0 is convergent. Hence the result follows from our main theorem.

The Hirzebruch surface \mathbf{F}_2 . As the simplest non-trivial example⁹, let us consider the Hirzebruch surface $X = \mathbf{F}_2$. This was the first example that we verified $W^{\text{PF}} = W^{\text{LF}}$ by direct computations.

Its fan consists of four rays which are generated by $v_1 = (1,0), v_2 = (0,1), v_3 = (-1,-2), v_4 = (0,-1)$ respectively. Let D_i denote the corresponding irreducible toric divisors and β_i denote the corresponding basic disk classes. Take $\Psi_1 = D_4, \Psi_2 = D_1$ to be the basis of $H_2(X)$, and denote the corresponding Kähler parameters by q_1 and q_2 .

The superpotential via PDE approach is

$$W^{\rm PF} = z_1 + z_2 + \check{q}_1(q)\check{q}_2^2(q)z_1^{-1}z_2^{-2} + \check{q}_2(q)z_2^{-1}$$

where $(\check{q}_1(q),\check{q}_2(q))$ is the inverse of toric mirror map. Let

$$h(x) = \sum_{k>0} x^k \frac{(-1)^{2k-1}(2k-1)!}{(k!)^2}$$

Then the toric mirror map is given by

$$q_1 = \check{q}_1 \exp(-2h(\check{q}_1));$$

$$q_2 = \check{q}_2 \exp h(\check{q}_1).$$

By inverting the first equality, one has

$$\exp\left(-h(\check{q}_1(q))\right) = 1 + q_1$$

and so

$$W^{\rm PF} = z_1 + z_2 + q_1 q_2^2 z_1^{-1} z_2^{-2} + q_2 \exp(-h(\check{q}_1(q))) z_2^{-1}$$

= $z_1 + z_2 + q_1 q_2^2 z_1^{-1} z_2^{-2} + q_2 z_2^{-1} (1+q_1).$

On the other hand,

$$W^{\rm LF} = z_1 + z_2 + q_1 q_2^2 z_1^{-1} z_2^{-2} + q_2 z_2^{-1} (1 + \delta(q))$$

where

$$\delta(q) = \sum_{k>0} n_{\beta_4 + k\Psi_1} q_1^k.$$

It was shown by Auroux [2], Fukaya-Oh-Ohta-Ono [17] and Chan-Lau [6] that $n_{\beta_4+k\Psi_1} = 1$ when k = 0, 1 and zero otherwise. Thus

$$W^{\rm LF} = z_1 + z_2 + q_1 q_2^2 z_1^{-1} z_2^{-2} + q_2 z_2^{-1} (1+q_1).$$

We see that $W^{\text{PF}} = W^{\text{LF}}$.

⁹This example was discussed in a meeting at MIT in June 2009 participated by M. Abouzaid, T. Coates, H. Iritani, and H.-H. T.

4.3.3. A further example. To show the enumerative power of (1.1), we compute an example whose open GW invariants are more complicated than the canonical line bundle of a toric Fano manifold, in the sense that the bubbles which contribute to the open GW invariants are supported by more than one irreducible toric divisors.

The toric data is as follows. The primitive generators of rays in the fan are

$$v_1 = (0, 0, 1), v_2 = (1, 0, 0), v_3 = (2, 0, -1), v_4 = (1, 0, -1),$$

 $v_5 = (0, 1, 0), v_6 = (-1, -1, 3), v_7 = (0, 0, -1).$

and its moment map image (with respect to a toric Kähler form) is shown in Figure 1. Let X denote this toric manifold.



FIGURE 1. A toric semi-Fano manifold which can be obtained by blowing up $\mathbb{P}(K_{\mathbb{P}^2} \oplus \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2})$ along lines twice.

Each facet is labelled by a number i = 1, ..., 7 such that its primitive normal vector is given by v_i , and the corresponding irreducible toric divisor is denoted by D_i . The numbers beside the edges record the self-intersection numbers of lines inside the corresponding toric surfaces. We take a basis $\{\Psi_1, \ldots, \Psi_4\} \subset H_2(X)$, where $\Psi_i = D_i \cap D_5$ for $i = 1, \ldots, 4$. The corresponding Kähler parameters are denoted by q_j for $j = 1, \ldots, 4$ as shown in Figure 1, and the complex parameters in the mirror are denoted by \check{q}_j for $j = 1, \ldots, 4$. Let $q_5 = q_2 q_3^2 q_4$ and $\check{q}_5 = \check{q}_2 \check{q}_3^2 \check{q}_4$.

The superpotential from the PDE approach is

$$W^{\rm PF} = \check{q}_5 z_3 + \check{q}_1 \check{q}_5^3 z_1 + \check{q}_1^2 \check{q}_2 \check{q}_5^5 z_1^2 z_3^{-1} + \check{q}_3 \check{q}_2 \check{q}_1 \check{q}_5^2 z_1 z_3^{-1} + z_2 + z_1^{-1} z_2^{-1} z_3^3 + z_3^{-1} z_3^{-1} + z_2 + z_1^{-1} z_2^{-1} z_3^{-1} + z_2^{-1} z_3^{-1} + z_2^{-1} z_3^{-1} + z_2^{-1} z_3^{-1} + z_2^{-1} + z_$$

where $\check{q}(q)$ is the inverse of the toric mirror map. Let

$$f(x,y) = \sum_{\substack{k_1 \ge 2k_2 \ge 0\\(k_1,k_2) \ne (0,0)}} x^{k_1} y^{k_2} \frac{(-1)^{3k_1-k_2-1}(3k_1-k_2-1)!}{(k_1!)^2 k_2!(k_1-2k_2)!};$$
$$g(x,y) = \sum_{\substack{k_2 \ge 3k_1 \ge 0\\(k_1,k_2) \ne (0,0)}} x^{k_1} y^{k_2} \frac{(-1)^{2k_2-k_1-1}(2k_2-k_1-1)!}{(k_1!)^2 k_2!(k_2-3k_1)!};$$
$$h(x) = \sum_{k>0} x^k \frac{(-1)^{2k-1}(2k-1)!}{(k!)^2}.$$

Then the toric mirror map is given by

$$q_{1} = \check{q}_{1} \exp(-3f(\check{q}_{1},\check{q}_{2}) + g(\check{q}_{1},\check{q}_{2}));$$

$$q_{2} = \check{q}_{2} \exp(f(\check{q}_{1},\check{q}_{2}) - 2g(\check{q}_{1},\check{q}_{2}));$$

$$q_{3} = \check{q}_{3} \exp(g(\check{q}_{1},\check{q}_{2}) + h(\check{q}_{4}));$$

$$q_{4} = \check{q}_{4} \exp(-2h(\check{q}_{4})).$$

In terms of the inverse mirror map $(\check{q}_1(q), \check{q}_2(q), \check{q}_3(q), \check{q}_4(q))$, where $q = (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4)$ is a multi-variable, one has

$$\begin{split} \check{q}_5 &= q_5 \exp(-f(\check{q}_1(q),\check{q}_2(q))); \\ \check{q}_1\check{q}_5^3 &= q_1q_5^3 \exp(-g(\check{q}_1(q),\check{q}_2(q))); \\ \check{q}_1^2\check{q}_2\check{q}_5^5 &= q_1^2q_2q_5^5; \\ \check{q}_3\check{q}_2\check{q}_1\check{q}_5^2 &= q_3q_2q_1q_5^2 \exp(-h(\check{q}_4(q))). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$W^{\rm PF} = q_5 z_3 \exp(-f(\check{q}_1(q), \check{q}_2(q))) + q_1 q_5^3 z_1 \exp(-g(\check{q}_1(q), \check{q}_2(q))) + q_1^2 q_2 q_5^5 z_1^2 z_3^{-1} + q_3 q_2 q_1 q_5^2 z_1 z_3^{-1} \exp(-h(\check{q}_4(q))) + z_2 + z_1^{-1} z_2^{-1} z_3^3 + z_3^{-1}$$

On the other hand, the superpotential from the Lagrangian-Floer approach is

$$W^{\rm LF} = q_5 z_3 (1 + \delta_1(q_1, q_2)) + q_1 q_5^3 z_1 (1 + \delta_2(q_1, q_2)) + q_1^2 q_2 q_5^5 z_1^2 z_3^{-1} + q_3 q_2 q_1 q_5^2 z_1 z_3^{-1} (1 + \delta_4(q_4)) + z_2 + z_1^{-1} z_2^{-1} z_3^3 + z_3^{-1}$$

where

$$\delta_1(q_1, q_2) = \sum_{\substack{k_1, k_2 \ge 0 \\ (k_1, k_2) \ne 0}} n_{\beta_1 + k_1 \Psi_1 + k_2 \Psi_2} q_1^{k_1} q_2^{k_2}$$

$$\delta_2(q_1, q_2) = \sum_{\substack{k_1, k_2 \ge 0 \\ (k_1, k_2) \ne 0}} n_{\beta_2 + k_1 \Psi_1 + k_2 \Psi_2} q_1^{k_1} q_2^{k_2}$$

$$\delta_4(q_4) = \sum_{k>0} n_{\beta_4 + k \Psi_4} q_4^k$$

where we recall that β_i are the basic disk classes associated to the irreducible toric divisors D_i for i = 1, ..., 7.

	$k_2 = 0$	$k_2 = 1$	$k_2 = 2$	$k_2 = 3$	$k_2 = 4$	$k_2 = 5$	$k_2 = 6$	$k_2 = 7$
$k_1 = 0$	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
$k_1 = 1$	-2	-2	0	0	0	0	0	0
$k_1 = 2$	5	8	9	8	12	16	20	24
$k_1 = 3$	-32	-70	-96	-110	-140	-252	-504	1056
$k_1 = 4$	286	800	1323	1744	2268	3528	6700	14120
$k_1 = 5$	-3038	-10374	-20232	-30382	-42030	-62838	-109704	-241020
$k_1 = 6$	35870	144768	326190	552328	824941	1244256	2496039	5108760
$k_1 = 7$	-454880	-2119298	-5424408	-10251170	-16592576	-30962188	-57926758	-115570212

TABLE 1. $n_{\beta_1+k_1\Psi_1+k_2\Psi_2}$

	$k_2 = 0$	$k_2 = 1$	$k_2 = 2$	$k_2 = 3$	$k_2 = 4$	$k_2 = 5$	$k_2 = 6$	$k_2 = 7$
$k_1 = 0$	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
$k_1 = 1$	0	-2	-2	-4	-6	-8	-10	-12
$k_1 = 2$	0	5	8	9	20	56	162	418
$k_1 = 3$	0	-32	-70	-96	-140	-300	-768	-2220
$k_1 = 4$	0	286	800	1323	1936	3360	7280	17910
$k_1 = 5$	0	-3038	-10374	-20232	-32098	-52630	-101250	-172556
$k_1 = 6$	0	35870	144768	326190	570556	947505	2158152	4976917
$k_1 = 7$	0	-454880	-2119298	-5424408	-10466390	-16175680	-28112692	-65956176

TABLE 2. $n_{\beta_2+k_1\Psi_1+k_2\Psi_2}$

The equality $W^{\text{LF}} = W^{\text{PF}}$ implies that

$$\delta_1(q_1, q_2) = \exp(-f(\check{q}_1(q), \check{q}_2(q)));$$

$$\delta_2(q_1, q_2) = \exp(-g(\check{q}_1(q), \check{q}_2(q)));$$

$$\delta_4(q_1, q_2) = \exp(-h(\check{q}_4(q))).$$

In the above expressions, $\exp(-h(\check{q}_4(q)))$ is the easiest one to write down (it also appears in the case of the Hizerbruch surface \mathbf{F}_2):

$$\delta_4(q_1, q_2) = \exp(-h(\check{q}_4(q))) = 1 + q_4.$$

Thus $n_{\beta_4+k\Psi_4} = 1$ when k = 0, 1, and zero otherwise.

We do not have closed formulas for $\exp(-f(\check{q}_1(q),\check{q}_2(q)))$ and $\exp(-g(\check{q}_1(q),\check{q}_2(q)))$, still their power series expansion can be obtained with the help of a computer program. The corresponding open GW invariants can be extracted from the power series expansions. Some open GW invariants computed this way are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Remark 4.18. Notice that all entries in the above tables are integers. Indeed the relation between open and closed invariants given by Proposition 4.4 and Theorem 4.5 of [26] still applies to this case. Let $h = \beta_1 + \beta_7 \in H_2(X)$, let \tilde{X} be the blow-up of X at a generic point, and $\tilde{h} \in H_2(\tilde{X})$ the proper transform of h under this blow-up. Then

$$n_{\beta_1+k_1\Psi_1+k_2\Psi_2} = \langle 1 \rangle_{0,0,\tilde{h}+k_1\Psi_1+k_2\Psi_2}^{\tilde{X}}.$$

Since the class $\tilde{h} + k_1 \Psi_1 + k_2 \Psi_2$ is primitive, its GW invariant is an integer. Similarly $n_{\beta_2+k_1\Psi_1+k_2\Psi_2}$ is equal to closed invariants of a primitive class, and this gives a geometric reason why they are integers. See also [7, Remark 5.7] for a related comment.

In [21], González and Iritani studied the relation between the Seidel elements \tilde{S}_i [30], [28] and the so-called Batyrev elements \tilde{D}_i of a semi-Fano toric manifold X. More precisely, they proved the following formula:

Theorem 5.1 (Theorem 1.1 in [21]). Let X be a semi-Fano toric manifold. Then the Seidel element \tilde{S}_i and the Batyrev element \tilde{D}_i are related by

(5.1)
$$\tilde{S}_i(q) = \exp\left(-g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})\right) \tilde{D}_i(\check{q})$$

under the toric mirror map $\check{q} = \check{q}(q)$.

Here, the functions $g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})$ for i = 1, ..., m are as defined in (4.5). They appear as part of the toric mirror map for the symplectic X-bundle $E_i \to \mathbb{P}^1$ which is constructed and used to define the Seidel element \tilde{S}_i [30]. We refer to [21] for the precise definitions of \tilde{S}_i and \tilde{D}_i . Note that the mirror moduli coordinates \check{q} are written as y there.

For i = 1, ..., m, we consider the following equation between the generating function $1 + \delta_i(q)$ of open GW invariants and the function $g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})$:

(5.2)
$$1 + \delta_i(q) = \exp\left(g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})\right)$$

under the toric mirror map $\check{q} = \check{q}(q)$.

The purpose of this section is to prove

Theorem 5.2. (1.1) is equivalent to (5.2).

(5.1)-(5.2) suggest that there is a close relationship between Seidel representation and open GW invariants. Also, (5.2) provides a complete and effective calculation of the generating functions δ_i of open GW invariants.

We now begin with preparation of the proof of Theorem 5.2.¹⁰ First of all, notice that the formula $W^{\rm PF} = W^{\rm LF}$ implies the multiplicative relation

$$q^d \prod_{i=1}^m (1+\delta_i(q))^{D_i \cdot d} = \check{q}^d$$

for any $d \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$. By the results of González-Iritani [21], we know that the Seidel elements and Batyrev elements satisfy the multiplicative relations

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} \tilde{S}_{i}^{D_{i} \cdot d} = q^{d}, \quad \prod_{i=1}^{m} \tilde{D}_{i}^{D_{i} \cdot d} = \check{q}^{d}$$

respectively. Hence, the formula $W^{\rm PF} = W^{\rm LF}$ implies that

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} (1+\delta_i(q))^{D_i \cdot d} = \check{q}^d / q^d$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^{m} (\tilde{D}_i / \tilde{S}_i)^{D_i \cdot d}$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\exp\left(g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})\right) \right)^{D_i \cdot d}$$

 $^{^{10}}$ This proof of Theorem 5.2 has already appeared in [8]; we include it here just for completeness.

under the toric mirror map $\check{q} = \check{q}(q)$.

Conversely, suppose that we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} (1+\delta_i(q))^{D_i \cdot d} = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\exp\left(g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})\right) \right)^{D_i \cdot d}$$

for any $d \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$. Recall that

$$W^{\rm LF} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (1 + \delta_i(q)) Z_i,$$

where $Z_i = z_i$ for i = 1, ..., n and $Z_j = q^{\alpha_j} z^{v_j}$ for j = n + 1, ..., m. Z_j are related by $\prod_{i=1}^{m} z^{D_i \cdot d} = z^d$

$$\prod_{i=1} Z_i^{D_i \cdot d} = q^d$$

for any $d \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$. Using the change of variables

$$\dot{Z}_i = (1 + \delta_i(q))Z_i,$$

we can write $W^{\text{LF}} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \tilde{Z}_i$ where the coordinates $(\tilde{Z}_1, \ldots, \tilde{Z}_m)$ are now related by

$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} \tilde{Z}_{i}^{D_{i} \cdot d} = q^{d} \prod_{i=1}^{m} (1 + \delta_{i}(q))^{D_{i} \cdot d}$$
$$= q^{d} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\exp\left(g_{0}^{(i)}(\check{q})\right) \right)^{D_{i} \cdot d}$$
$$= q^{d} (\check{q}^{d}/q^{d})$$
$$= \check{q}^{d}.$$

Hence, we have $W_q^{\text{PF}} = W_q^{\text{LF}}$.

In summary, we have shown that (1.1) is equivalent to the equations

(5.3)
$$\prod_{i=1}^{m} (1+\delta_i(q))^{D_i \cdot d} = \prod_{i=1}^{m} \left(\exp\left(g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})\right) \right)^{D_i \cdot d}$$

for any $d \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$. Clearly, (5.2) implies (5.3). We want to show that this is in turn equivalent to (5.2). To proceed, observe that the proof of Corollary 4.12 implies the following

Lemma 5.3. If $g_0^{(i)}(\check{q})$ vanishes, then the generating function $\delta_i(q)$ also vanishes.

For $i = 1, \ldots, m$, let

$$A_i(q) := \log\left(e^{-g_0^{(i)}(\check{q}(q))}(1+\delta_i(q))\right)$$

By the fact that any convex polytope with nonempty interior in \mathbb{R}^n has at least n + 1 vertices, at least n + 1 of the functions $g_0^{(i)}$ are vanishing (this is Corollary 4.6 in González-Iritani [21]). Hence, by the above lemma, at least n + 1 of the functions $A_i(q)$ are vanishing.

Now, by taking logarithms, the equation (5.3) becomes

(5.4)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} (D_i \cdot d) A_i(q) = 0$$

for any $d \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$. There are at most m - (n + 1) = l - 1 nonzero $A'_i s$ in these equations.

We are now ready to prove Theorem 5.2:

Proof of Theorem 5.2. It suffices to prove that the system of linear equations (5.4) has a unique solution (i.e. $A_i(q) \equiv 0$ for all *i*). Without loss of generality, we assume that $g_0^{(1)}, \ldots, g_0^{(s)}$ are the non-vanishing functions. By Proposition 4.11, for $j = 1, \ldots, s, v_j$ is not is vertex of the fan polytope of X. Let F_j be the minimal face of the fan polytope of X which contains v_j . Then F_j is the convex hull of primitive generators v_{p_1}, \ldots, v_{p_k} which are vertices of the fan polytope of X. So there exist positive integers a_1, \ldots, a_k, b such that $a_1v_{p_1} + \ldots + a_kv_{p_k} - bv_i = 0$. This primitive relation corresponds to a class $d_j \in H_2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ such that $D_j \cdot d_j = -b < 0, D_{p_t} \cdot d_j = a_t$ and $D_r \cdot d_j = 0$ when r is none of j, p_1, \ldots, p_k . (This argument is in fact contained in the proof of Theorem 1.2 in [21].)

It then follows from the system of equations:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} (D_j \cdot d) A_i(q) = 0, \ j = 1, \dots, s$$

that we have $A_i(q) \equiv 0$ for all *i*. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.2.

References

- D. Auroux, Mirror symmetry and T-duality in the complement of an anticanonical divisor, J. Gökova Geom. Topol. GGT 1 (2007), 51–91.
- _____, Special Lagrangian fibrations, wall-crossing, and mirror symmetry, Surv. Differ. Geom., vol. 13, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2009, pp. 1–47.
- V. Batyrev, Quantum cohomology rings of toric manifolds, Astérisque (1993), no. 218, 9–34, Journées de Géométrie Algébrique d'Orsay (Orsay, 1992).
- P. Candelas, X. de la Ossa, P.S. Green, and L. Parkes, A pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exactly soluble superconformal theory, Nuclear Phys. B 359 (1991), no. 1, 21–74.
- K. Chan, A formula equating open and closed Gromov-Witten invariants and its applications to mirror symmetry, Pacific J. Math. 254 (2011), no. 2, 275–293.
- K. Chan and S.-C. Lau, Open Gromov-Witten invariants and superpotentials for semi-Fano toric surfaces, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2014), no. 14, 3759–3789.
- K. Chan, S.-C. Lau, and N. C. Leung, SYZ mirror symmetry for toric Calabi-Yau manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 90 (2012), no. 2, 177–250.
- 8. K. Chan, S.-C. Lau, N.-C. Leung, and H.-H. Tseng, Open Gromov-Witten invariants, mirror maps, and Seidel representations for toric manifolds, Duke Math. J. 166 (2017), no. 8, 1405–1462.
- C.-H. Cho and Y.-G. Oh, Floer cohomology and disc instantons of Lagrangian torus fibers in Fano toric manifolds, Asian J. Math. 10 (2006), no. 4, 773–814.
- D. A. Cox and S. Katz, Mirror symmetry and algebraic geometry, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 68, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- 11. A. Douai and C. Sabbah, *Gauss-Manin systems, Brieskorn lattices and Frobenius structures. I*, Proceedings of the International Conference in Honor of Frédéric Pham (Nice, 2002), vol. 53, 2003, pp. 1055–1116.
- 12. _____, Gauss-Manin systems, Brieskorn lattices and Frobenius structures. II, Frobenius manifolds, Aspects Math., E36, Vieweg, Wiesbaden, 2004, pp. 1–18.
- K. Fukaya, Y.-G. Oh, H. Ohta, and K. Ono, Lagrangian intersection Floer theory: anomaly and obstruction. Part I, AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 46, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2009.
- 14. _____, Lagrangian intersection Floer theory: anomaly and obstruction. Part II, AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 46, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2009.
- 15. _____, Lagrangian Floer theory on compact toric manifolds. I, Duke Math. J. 151 (2010), no. 1, 23–174.
- 16. ____, Lagrangian Floer theory on compact toric manifolds. II: bulk deformations, Selecta Math. 17 (2011), no. 3, 609–711.
- 17. <u>.</u>, Toric degeneration and non-displaceable Lagrangian tori in $S^2 \times S^2$, Internat. Math. Res. Notices **2012** (2012), no. 13, 2942–2993.
- 18. _____, Lagrangian Floer theory and mirror symmetry on compact toric manifolds, Astérisque (2016), no. 376, vi+340.
- A. Givental, Homological geometry and mirror symmetry, Proceedings of International Congress of Mathematicians (Zürich, 1994), vol. 2, Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995, pp. 472–480.
- _____, A mirror theorem for toric complete intersections, Topological field theory, primitive forms and related topics (Kyoto, 1996), Progr. Math., vol. 160, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1998, pp. 141–175.

- E. González and H. Iritani, Seidel elements and mirror transformations, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 18 (2012), no. 3, 557–590. MR 2960027
- 22. M. Gross, *Tropical geometry and mirror symmetry*, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, vol. 114, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC, 2011.
- 23. K. Hori and C. Vafa, *Mirror symmetry*, preprint, arXiv:hep-th/0002222.
- 24. H. Iritani, Convergence of quantum cohomology by quantum Lefschetz, J. Reine Angew. Math. 610 (2007), 29-69.
- 25. _____, An integral structure in quantum cohomology and mirror symmetry for toric orbifolds, Adv. Math. 222 (2009), no. 3, 1016–1079.
- S.-C. Lau, N. C. Leung, and B. Wu, A relation for Gromov-Witten invariants of local Calabi-Yau threefolds, Math. Res. Lett. 18 (2011), no. 5, 943–956.
- 27. B. Lian, K. Liu, and S.-T. Yau, Mirror principle. III, Asian J. Math. 3 (1999), no. 4, 771-800.
- 28. D. McDuff, Quantum homology of fibrations over S^2 , Internat. J. Math. 11 (2000), 665–721.
- 29. K. Saito, Period mapping associated to a primitive form, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 19 (1983), 1231-1264.
- 30. P. Seidel, π_1 of symplectic automorphism groups and invertibles in quantum homology rings, Geom. Funct. Anal. 7 (1997), no. 6, 1046–1095.
- B. Teissier, The hunting of invariants in the geometry of discriminants, Real and complex singularities (Proc. Ninth Nordic Summer School/NAVF Sympos. Math., Oslo, 1976), Sijthoff and Noordhoff, Alphen aan den Rijn, 1977, pp. 565–678.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, THE CHINESE UNIVERSITY OF HONG KONG, SHATIN, HONG KONG

Email address: kwchan@math.cuhk.edu.hk

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS AND STATISTICS, BOSTON UNIVERSITY, BOSTON, MA, USA

Email address: lau@math.bu.edu

THE INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES AND DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, THE CHINESE UNIVERSITY OF HONG KONG, SHATIN, HONG KONG

Email address: leung@math.cuhk.edu.hk

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, OHIO STATE UNIVERSITY, 100 MATH TOWER, 231 WEST 18TH AVE., COLUMBUS, OH 43210, USA

Email address: hhtseng@math.ohio-state.edu